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In accordance with paragraph 25 (b) of Schedule 1 to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999, as amended
by Section 10 Energy (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 2006, we are pleased to present to you the
Annual Report of the Commission for Energy Regulation, in respect of the period from 1st January 2015
to 31st December 2015.
Cc: Simon Coveney, TD, Minister for Housing, Planning and Local Government
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Foreword by the
Commissioners
Introduction
The Commission for Energy Regulation (“the CER”) is
Ireland’s independent energy and water regulator. Since
its establishment in 1999, the CER’s remit has expanded
significantly to encompass a range of economic, customer
protection and safety responsibilities in energy. The CER
was also given the role as the economic regulator of the Irish
public water and wastewater sector in 2014.

Picture: (L-R) Paul McGowan, Garret Blaney (Chair), Aoife MacEvilly

The CER has an important public interest mandate. The work
we do impacts every Irish home and business, by ensuring
safe, secure and sustainable energy and water supplies at
a reasonable cost. The sectors we regulate underpin Irish
economic competitiveness, investment and growth, while
also contributing to our international obligations to address
climate change.
The CER operates within both a national and EU policy
framework. The CER team engages at an EU level to help
influence outcomes that align with Irish and all-island
priorities and to share and learn from best practice among
energy, water and safety regulators.
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As an economic regulator, the CER strives to
ensure a stable and predictable regulatory regime
to support efficient investment, competition and
consumer protection. We are also responsive
to the significant developments in our sectors,
including the signing of the historic Paris Climate
Change Agreement and the publication of the new
national Energy Policy White Paper in 2015. In this
context, the CER works to support and incentivise

innovation resulting in better outcomes for energy
consumers, and delivering decarbonisation at least
cost.
In 2015, the CER team completed a challenging
and complex work plan, which reflects the breadth
of our functions and the significant changes
underway within the energy and water sectors.
Below we provide a brief summary of our main
functions and projects in each sector.

Energy
The CER’s aim is to promote competition in both
the generation and supply of electricity and gas,
ensure Ireland maintains security of supply
for energy and protect the interests of energy
customers.
The CER jointly regulates the all-island wholesale
Single Electricity Market (SEM) through the SEM
Committee, a decision-making body consisting of
the CER, the Northern Ireland Utility Regulator
and an independent member.
The energy sector is currently undergoing rapid
change due to national, EU and global influences.
In particular we must continue to work to deliver
decarbonisation at least cost, facilitate new smart
technologies, develop greater competition in
wholesale and retail markets, engage and protect
consumers, while working towards the integration
of our market with the EU single energy market.
2015 saw further progress for the delivery of
the Integrated Single Electricity Market (I-SEM)
in 2017 through the new energy trading

arrangements and a capacity remuneration
mechanism which aim to enhance competition
in the generation sector. The CER continued to
support the development of renewable energy
sources to deliver on Ireland’s 2020 renewable
targets.
The CER enhanced its retail market monitoring
activities as competition continued to develop
throughout 2015, with evidence of significant
price competition and lower retail prices,
particularly for active consumers.
The development of the electricity and gas
networks to provide security of supply and satisfy
future demand in Ireland is essential. In 2015,
the CER concluded the fourth electricity networks
price control, which will ensure the required and
effective investment in the electricity networks to
bring value and security to the Irish consumer.
We also implemented significant new gas network
code changes to facilitate the coming on-stream of
Corrib gas and ensure EU compliance.

Customer Complaints and Advocacy
The CER provides a vital function to consumer
across the energy and water sectors by providing
a complaints resolution service to customers
of energy suppliers and Irish Water through its
Customer Care Team. The numbers of customers
availing of this service indicates the ongoing
need for an independent advocate to ensure the
consumer can feel confident that their rights are
being protected.

The CER facilitates a Consumer Stakeholder
Group that meets regularly to engage with and
inform a wide range of stakeholders who work
directly with or on behalf of consumers to ensure
they have a strong voice and to contribute to
consumer protection policy. In addition, the CER
has commenced work to further enhance its
consumer protection and advocacy role through
regular communications activity and planning for
a consumer focused communications campaign.
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Energy Safety Regulation
The CER’s focus is firmly fixed on the protection
of lives across a diverse range of areas within the
energy sector, including downstream natural gas
(covering storage, transportation and supply),
Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) piped distribution
systems and all upstream petroleum extraction and
exploration activities (onshore and offshore oil and
gas activity).
The CER is also the safety regulator for all electrical
contractors and gas installers (covering both natural
gas and LPG).

The CER delivers on its safety role by:
• Providing LPG safety regime frameworks and
safety licences to industry operators to enhance
safety for LPG customers.
• Delivering public awareness campaigns targeted
at electrical and gas safety issues in conjunction
with stakeholders and the relevant safety
supervisory bodies.
• Pursuing the prosecutions of unregistered gas
installers and electrical contractors.
• Protecting the public interest through the
new Petroleum Safety Framework, including
assessing safety cases, issuing safety permits
and implementing compliance assurance
activities such as audits and inspections.

Water
The CER works to protect the interests of water
consumers by facilitating necessary investment
to enhance water and waste water services in
Ireland and by improving standards of service for
customers in their dealings with Irish Water. In 2015

the CER undertook significant work on Irish Water’s
capital investment plan, with work commencing on
the revenue control for 2017/18. We also reviewed
Irish Water’s implementation of its customer service
obligations under the customer handbook.

CER Operations
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The CER endeavours to work towards continual
improvement in the delivery of its operational and
strategic priorities.

to ensure that the work of the CER can be
benchmarked against best international practice in
regulation.

In 2015 we introduced a more integrated approach
to operations and business planning, which helped
us deliver our expanded and ambitious work plan,
within approved resources. This has been done
through effective financial planning, successful
HR management, recruitment and investment
in the people of the CER, greater stakeholder
communication and an organisation wide aspiration

The work of the CER, and its delivery of positive
outcomes for homes, businesses and the broader
economy are only possible through the knowledge,
expertise and commitment of the CER team. The
Commission would like to express its gratitude
for their ongoing dedication and they remain the
organisation’s strongest asset.

Public
Interest
Statement
Ireland’s Energy Regulator
In 2014, the CER commenced a review of
its Strategic Plan and priorities for the period
2014-2018. That work is now completed
and the priorities in this area are reflected
in this report for 2015.
The CER is the independent body in Ireland with a mission
of ‘regulating water, energy and safety in the public interest’.
Our vision is as follows:

In fulfilling our mission and our statutory functions, it is vital that
the CER develops and adheres to key values for the organisation
so that all stakeholders, and particularly the public, trust us and
have faith that we will serve them properly as an independent
regulator. In regulating we stress that:
• We are committed to public service – we will always act in
the public interest
• We act with integrity in everything we do
• We are professional in our dealings with stakeholders

The short and long run interests of the public are protected
by ensuring:

• We are accessible to stakeholders – we listen to what people
have to say

• Energy is supplied safely

• We are proportionate and objective – we take balanced
decisions

• The lights stay on
• The gas continues to flow
• A reliable supply of clean water and efficient treatment of
wastewater
• Consumer prices for energy and water are fair and
reasonable, and
• Regulation is to best international practice.
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• We are transparent – we are open to scrutiny and are
committed to explaining our decisions
• We are accountable for our decisions and for the way we
spend our resources, and
• We value and develop our staff – they are our chief resource.
For detailed information on our work please see our website
at www.cer.ie.
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Duties & Functions
The CER is Ireland’s independent energy and water
regulator. The CER was established in 1999. Since
then its powers and functions have expanded and
it now has a wide range of economic, customer
protection and safety responsibilities in energy.
The CER has also commenced its new role as the
economic regulator of the Irish public water and
wastewater sector which took effect in early 2014.
The Commission is financed by means of a levy on
industry participants in the energy and water sector.
An overview of the CER’s current (as at December
2015) key functions is as follows:
ECONOMIC REGULATION OF ENERGY: Our aim
is to protect the interests of energy customers,
maintain security of supply, and to promote
competition covering the generation and supply
of electricity and supply of natural gas. As part of
this role, the CER jointly regulates the all-island
wholesale Single Electricity Market (SEM) with its
counterpart in Northern Ireland, the Utility Regulator.
The SEM is governed by a decision-making body
known as the SEM Committee, consisting of the
CER, the Utility Regulator and an independent
member.
ECONOMIC REGULATION OF WATER: The CER
recently assumed the role of economic regulator for
the public water and wastewater sector, covering the
services provided by Irish Water. Our primary aim is
to protect the interests of customers by monitoring
the performance of Irish Water in delivering services
and providing investment in water and wastewater
infrastructure in a cost efficient manner.
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS (ENERGY & WATER):
The CER’s Customer Care team has an important
role in customer protection by resolving complaints
that customers have with energy companies and
Irish Water. .
ENERGY SAFETY REGULATION: In energy safety,
the core focus of the CER is to protect lives across
a range of areas in the energy sector. This includes
safety regulation of electrical contractors and gas
installers (covering both natural gas and Liquefied
Petroleum Gas (LPG). In addition, the CER is the
safety regulator of the downstream natural gas
industry (covering storage, transportation and
supply) and LPG piped distribution systems. It is
also safety regulator of upstream petroleum safety
extraction and exploration activities; this includes oil
and gas activity both onshore and offshore.

The following is an overview of the key legislation
underpinning CER’s duties and functions:
• The CER was established under the provisions of
the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999, and has
taken on significant additional responsibilities
since then under various pieces of legislation.
Responsibility for the regulation of the natural
gas market was conferred upon the CER under
the Gas (Interim) Regulation Act, 2002.
• The Energy (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
2006 added to the role and functions of the CER,
including providing for additional responsibilities
in natural gas and electrical safety.
• The Electricity Regulation Amendment Electricity
Regulation Amendment (SEM) Act, 2007
outlined the CER’s functions in relation to the
Single Electricity Market (SEM) for the island
of Ireland. The SEM is governed through the
SEM Committee consisting of the CER, the
Utility Regulator in Belfast and an Independent
member.
• The Electricity Regulation Amendment (SEM)
Act, 2007 outlined the CER’s functions in relation
to the Single Electricity Market (SEM) for the
island of Ireland. The SEM is governed through
the SEM Committee consisting of the CER, the
Utility Regulator in Belfast and an Independent
Member.
• In 2010, the CER’s statutory safety responsibilities
expanded significantly with the enactment of
the Petroleum (Exploration & Extraction)
Safety Act, 2010. Further legislation has seen
the Registered Gas Installer scheme expand to
include Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) installers
and piped LPG distribution systems that supply
domestic customers.
• The Water Services Act (WSA) was enacted in
March 2013. The Act empowered the CER to
commence preparation for the role of Economic
Regulator for public water and waste water
services as provided by Irish Water to domestic
and business customers.
• The Water Services (No. 2) Act 2013 was
enacted on 25 December 2013. With effect from
1st January 2014, the Act provides for the transfer
of Water Services functions from Local Authorities
to Irish Water and the CER assumed the role of
economic regulator for the sector soon thereafter.
• The Water Services Act 2014 was enacted on
28th December 2014 and made provision for the
CER to establish a Public Water Forum and a
dispute resolution service for customers.

11

CER
Organisation
2015

The CER is headed by up to three
Commissioners at any one time. In
2015 the Commissioners were Garret
Blaney (Chair), Paul McGowan and
Aoife MacEvilly. The Commissioners are
assisted in their duties by a staff of about
98, including four directors.
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The current CER Directors are:
• Laura Brien, Director of Energy Markets
• John Melvin, Director of Energy Networks
• Ann McGarry, Director of Safety
• Sheenagh Rooney, Director of Water, Operations and
Customer Care
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Information Provision
The CER is committed to providing a high quality, userfriendly and easily accessible service to our customers in
all of our areas of responsibility, as set out in our customer
charter which is available on www.cer.ie. An upgrade of the
CER website was completed in early 2014 with the launch of
the enhanced website.
In making decisions on policy matters, the CER regularly carries
out formal consultations with stakeholders over its website
www.cer.ie and the associated website for all-island energy
regulatory issues, at www.semcommittee.com Responses to
these consultations are considered in the formulation of decision
papers. The CER also regularly communicates and meets with
industry and customer stakeholders.
The CER also delivers energy information to the general public
and provides a dispute resolution service for electricity and
gas customers, through the CER websites at www.cer.ie and
www.energycustomers.ie and through face-to-face meetings
and published documents.

CER 2015 Work Plan
In its work programme for 2015, published on the CER’s
website on the 23rd June 2015, the CER identified the key
strategic tasks for commencement, progression or delivery
during 2015, all of which would allow the CER to fulfil its
mission statement. These tasks are summarised in the
Executive Summary and are also discussed in detail in the
main section of this Report.
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Executive
Summary

This Executive Summary provides an
overview of the CER’s key work items
and achievements in 2015. While the
Executive Summary is designed to
provide an update on the CER’s progress
in achieving its strategic goals during the
year, many of the CER’s work items are
ongoing and will continue into and in
some cases beyond 2015.
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As part of the CER’s business planning process a large
number of work items were identified for commencement,
continuation or delivery during 2015 as part of a detailed
work plan that was published on June 23, 2015.
The CER works to detailed action plans and outputs for
each division and its relevant area of work to deliver on the
CER mission of ‘regulating water, energy and energy safety
in the public interest’. The CER’s 2016 Work Programme
and actions support an overarching CER Strategic Plan for
the period 2014-18.
The following are some of the key achievements and
outcomes in each area of work of these divisions.
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Energy Safety
• We appointed Registered Electrical
Contractors of Ireland (RECI) and
Registered Gas Installers of Ireland
(RGII) as the Safety Supervisory
Bodies for seven year terms with effect
from January 2016 after a public
procurement process. We continued
to monitor the performance of the gas
installer and electrical schemes, with
the number of Registered Gas Installers
remaining stable and the number
of Registered Electrical contractors
increasing during 2015.
• We continued to investigate all
allegations against unregistered
electrical contractors and gas installers.
This lead to a doubling in the total
number of successful prosecutions for
illegal gas and electrical activity over
the previous year from 15 to 30.
• We undertook safety permit
assessments for the PSE Kinsale
Limited/PSE Seven Heads Limited
production activities, well work with
respect to the Corrib gas field, and well
work activity for a PSE Seven Heads
exploration well. In July, we issued
our first permit for an exploration
well under the new Petroleum Safety
Framework to PSE Seven Heads for the
Middleton Well.

• We issued our first LPG Safety
Licences to undertakings operating
piped distribution networks to multiple
domestic customers.
• We continued to actively engage with
European safety regulators through the
North Seas Offshore Authorities Forum
(NSOAF) and the European Union
Offshore Authorities Group (EUOAG).
• We carried out audits and inspections
of the petroleum activities including
offshore inspection of drilling rigs
either entering Irish waters or existing
undertakings.
• We investigated 43 petroleum safety
incidents. Enforcement actions
were issued in 2015 against a
single production activity following
identification of non-compliance.
• Thirty natural gas safety incidents were
reported to CER and investigated.
• We commissioned two safety
campaigns, the “Safe Electric”
campaign and Carbon Monoxide
Awareness Week. These campaigns
ran across multiple media platforms
including TV, radio, press and online,
delivering increased awareness of
the need to hire suitably registered
electricians or gas installers to carry out
work in the homes of consumers.

Water Regulation
• We kicked off work on the second
Interim Revenue Control for Irish
Water which will set an overall level of
revenue which the utility can collect
in 2017 and 2018. This also involves
assessing how well Irish Water has
performed in delivering its services
and achieving its efficiency targets for
2014-2016.
• We published a revised Water Charges
Plan for Irish Water customers which
consisted of a simplified charging
framework and put in place easier
payment options for customers. This

resulted in a revised lower revenue
requirement for the first revenue
control for Irish Water.
• In terms of consumer protection and
customer service for water users, we
reviewed Irish Water’s implementation
of its obligations under the customer
handbook. Irish Water has made good
progress with more than 90% of the
obligations implemented in 2016 and
a plan in place to further improve
compliance.
• We worked with the new chair of the
Public Water Forum to get the new
representative body up and running to
meet for the first time in 2015. CER’s
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role included providing the secretariat function
and running the process for the appointment of
the members.
• We approved Irish Waters Capital investment
plan and continued to review its implementation
to ensure the most efficient use of the funds
and progress of its overall delivery.
• We worked with Irish Water to agree a process
on creating a new connections charging
policy across all 34 local authorities to benefit
customers. The results of this analysis will form
the foundation for a new Connection Charging
Policy to be published in 2016.

• We continued to engage with other national
key stakeholders in the wider environmental
regulatory sector, including the Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA) and learnt from other
European regulators through our membership
of the Network of European Water Service
Regulators (WAREG)
• We engaged with Irish Water to develop a plan
to establish Irish Water’s Non-domestic Tariff
Framework to provide a clearer and fair suite
of tariffs for water and wastewater services. We
also established a Non-Domestic Water User
Group to understand the needs and priorities
of all non-domestic water and wastewater
customers as future policies are developed.

Gas and Electricity Networks
• We revised the gas network entry tariff regime
to facilitate the coming on stream of Corrib gas
and provide investment signals to potential
developers of new entry points. Changes at the
gas entry points to would have led to higher
wholesale gas costs and a significant price
increase without this reform.
• We successfully implemented new gas EU
network codes, increasing transparency
and enhancing access for Irish suppliers to
wholesale gas markets.
• We completed the five-year electricity
network review of the electricity networks
system operators, ESB Networks and Eirgrid,
ensuring that the utilities are able to develop
and maintain the electricity network to a high
standard in the most efficient way, and deliver
secure electricity supplies. This five year review,
which covers the period 2016 to 2020, will

facilitate significant new investment in critical
national infrastructure, driving efficiencies
and incentivising innovation by the network
companies and spreading the cost impact for
consumers over the five year tariff period.
• While the current Gate 3 connection process
delivered significant new connections to the grid
in 2015, particularly of renewable energy, we
launched a major new consultation on a revised
electricity network connection policy.
• Natural gas demand has fallen in recent years,
putting upward pressure on network tariffs
and future customer bills. The CER approved
proposals by GNI to help stimulate demand with
minimal infrastructure investment to address
this.
• We approved the connection of Listowel and
Foynes to the natural gas grid.

Energy Markets
• We significantly enhanced our market
monitoring framework, giving greater oversight
of information to identify market issues and to
take any necessary action in the interests of
customers. This enhanced market monitoring
and reporting regime provided better
information and oversight of key developments
in the market, including:
>> falling wholesale prices driving lower retail
electricity and gas prices for consumers,
>> new entrants, more competition, deeper
discounts and more innovative product and
service offerings by suppliers,
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>> continued active switching and more
evidence of suppliers negotiating better deals
with existing customers,
>> Further reductions in disconnections.
• We continued to gather the views of energy
consumers through our annual consumer
survey to identify key issues and develop
policies to protect the consumer. The 2015
survey showed increasing satisfaction levels
with suppliers, but an ongoing low level of
consumer awareness and engagement with the
energy market.

• We decided on the framework to
ensure customers in debt may switch
suppliers and access competitive
offers.
• We significantly progressed the work,
in partnership with the Utility Regulator
in NI and through our membership
of the SEM Committee to oversee
regulation of the existing single
electricity market and the re-design
of a more competitive, interconnected
and sustainable all-island electricity
market. Significant consultation and
engagement with industry throughout
2015 facilitated key decisions by the
Single Electricity Market Committee
on the I-SEM and DS3 projects, which
included:
>> the detailed design of the new
energy markets,

>> the designation of Eirgrid as the
National Electricity Market Operator
(NEMO),
>> Progressed the detailed rules
development for other aspects of
market design, including capacity
markets, identification of measures
to mitigate market power, and
rules for access to cross border
transmission capacity.
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• We continued to monitor and audit
compliance by suppliers with
consumer protection requirements and
identified several areas where further
development was required due to
the growth of supplier’s offerings and
different marketing and advertising
strategies. This initiated a major
consultation to take place in 2016 on
the key consumer protection measures
in the supplier handbook, which sets
out minimum service requirements
that suppliers must adhere to in their
dealings with energy customers.

• We continued to play a role in the
development of European energy
policy as members of Council of
Energy Regulators (CEER) and
Agency for the Cooperation of Energy
Regulators (ACER), contributing to the
market monitoring reports to assess
assessment on the development of
competitive retail markets, as well as
working groups implementing the panEuropean internal energy market.
• We progressed several key areas of the
National Smart Metering Programme
(NSMP) including the transition from
old mechanical meters to smart
meters, the introduction of Time of Use
tariffs within the programme based
on customer choice and readiness,
how Smart Pay As You Go will be
integrated into the programme, the
codes of practice for suppliers for
smart metering and how the changes
that smart meters will bring will be
communicated to consumers.

Customer Complaints and Advocacy
• The Customer Care Team completed
the first full year of handling water
complaints and queries in respect of
Irish Water.

• The Customer Care Team reduced
from 29% to 12% the number of
Complex Complaints outside our
targeted timeline for resolution of 120
days and reduced the average time for
resolving a Complex Complaint from
111 to 108 days.
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Energy Efficiency
2015
The CER, as a public sector agency,
is fully committed to playing its part in
the achievement of energy efficiency
(reduction) targets – currently 33% –
across the public sector by 2020. Since
2011 the CER has appointed an Energy
Manager and an Energy Management
Team. The CER’s Energy Policy was
updated in April 2014.

The CER is participating in SEAI’s Public Sector
Programme “The Public Sector Energy Partnership”.
The CER is an active member of Sustainable Energy
Ireland (SEAI’s) Energy Consumption in the Public Sector
Programme.
The CER’s objective for 2015 in this area continued to
be exemplary performance in energy management and
energy efficiency in the public sector.
With regards to awareness, the CER ran an Energy
Efficiency Competition between the different floors in the
office with frequent energy themed contemporary quizzes.
It also promoted awareness through the implementation of
signage and a dedicated Energy Efficiency Week of talks,
films and events for all staff.
The initial results from the SEAI monitoring and reporting
system demonstrate the CER has made strong progress
in terms of achieving our energy efficiency target; those
initial results indicate that we achieved 1st place in
2015 compared to the baseline year of 2009 for both
savings compared to all public bodies and office based
organisations, for the second year consecutively. Our
challenge now is to maintain and improve upon this
performance. To this end, the CER will be setting a revised,
more stringent, energy savings target in 2016.
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Energy Usage
The CER’s office accounts for 100% of its
energy usage. During 2015, an estimated total of
163.89MWh of energy was consumed, consisting
solely of electricity. This represents a decrease
of 2.8 MWh on 2014 (-2%). The floor by floor
breakdown of this 2015 figure is represented in
the table below. This shows that the ground floor
consumed the most electricity when compared to
the other floors.
Floor

% of Total

Ground Floor

34%

First Floor

26%

Second Floor

22%

Third Floor

18%

In 2015 a degree day analysis was undertaken to
assess the 2015 electricity consumption data in
more detail. The aim of this study was to try and

understand the CER’s electricity baseload and as
such the electricity consumption related to the
HVAC heating system.
Separating out the electrical baseload and the
thermal load revealed that the reduction in total
electricity consumption was related to the electrical
baseload of the CER offices and not the heating
requirement of the building. The consumption
related to the heating of the floor space actually
showed an increase relative to 2014 (when
normalised).
This increase was not linked to a decrease in
annual temperatures, in fact the outside air
temperature, on average, was higher in 2015
compared to 2014. This suggests that the use of
the HVAC system to heat or cool the floor space
needs to be considered more carefully in the
2016.
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Statement of
Best Practice
We wish to state that the CER continues
and will continue to adopt best practice
in the area of corporate governance in
carrying out its functions and duties.
In this regard, the CER is required to
comply with the “Code of Practice for
the Governance of State Bodies” which
was published by the Department of
Finance in October 2001 and updated
in May 2009. The CER is committed to
complying with the revised Code.

The CER is in compliance with the revised Code issued
in May 2009 save for a few generic elements which are
not relevant to an independent regulatory authority. The
CER has agreed with the Department of Communications,
Energy and Natural Resources on the extent to which
requirements are adapted to the CER.
Procedures that the CER currently has in place in this
regard include:
• A code of conduct for Commissioners and employees;
• Ensuring compliance with Irish and EU tendering and
procurement requirements;
• CER Corporate Procurement Plan;
• Procedures for the disposal of assets;
• Compliance with Government Policy on the
remuneration of Commissioners and members of staff;
• Provision of details of Members of the Commission’s
emoluments and details of the Chairperson’s
remuneration package within Financial Statements
published with the Annual Report;
• Appointment of external expertise to perform the internal
audit function. The report of the CER Audit Committee
is included in the Financial Statements section of this
Annual Report;
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• Implementation of a Risk Management
Policy, which is monitored by the CER;

• Submission of “Report on Compliance with
the Code of Practice for the Governance
of State Bodies” to the Minister for
Communications, Energy and Natural
Resources with the Annual Report and
Financial Statements;

• Adoption of a policy for confidential
disclosures regarding possible irregularities in
financial reporting.

• Completion of Strategic Plan – a new
Strategic Plan covering the period 2014 to
2018 was completed in 2014.
• Development of an annual Work Programme
to be submitted to the Minister by 30
November each year. The Work Programme
for 2016 was published on the CER’s website
on 22nd February 2015.
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• Submission, to the Department of
Communications, Energy and Natural
Resources, of a statement confirming
compliance with taxation laws and
confirming that all tax liabilities are paid on or
before the due date;

• Establishment of a Risk Committee;
• Implementation of a policy on foreign travel;
and

The Commission met formally on 58 occasions
in 2015 and the number of Special meetings
was 3. Chairperson Garrett Blaney attended
46 Commission meetings and 2 Special
Commission meetings. Commissioner Paul
McGowan attended 52 Commission meetings
and 3 Special Commission meetings.
Commissioner Aoife MacEvilly attended
55 Commission meetings and 3 Special
Commission meetings.

Ethics in Public Office
We hereby confirm that we are not directly
engaged in, concerned in or interested in
any electricity generating business or in
any electricity or natural gas transmission,
distribution or supply business or in any energy
business, whether as participator, investor,
consultant or otherwise. In addition, in respect
of the period covered by this report, there

Garrett Blaney
Chairperson

Paul McGowan
Commissioner

are no registerable interests, as specified in
the Ethics in Public Office Acts 1995 and
2001 and the Gas (Interim) (Regulation)
Act, 2002, of our own, or, to our actual
knowledge, of a spouse or child, which could
materially influence us in, or in relation to, the
performance of the functions of our position.

Aoife MacEvilly
Commissioner
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Background
to the
Annual
Report
Report Structure
This Annual Report provides
an overview of the CER’s key
work items and achievements in
2015. While the Annual Report is
designed to provide an update on
the CER’s progress in achieving
its strategic goals during the year,
many of the CER’s work items are
ongoing and will continue into and
in some cases beyond 2015.

As part of the CER’s business planning process
a large number of work items were identified for
commencement, continuation or delivery during
2015. The following section of this Annual Report
focus primarily on the work carried out by the CER
in meeting these key strategic tasks, and related
matters, in 2015.
The Report then informs on the outcomes
against the “Key Performance Indicators” (KPIs)
which were agreed with the Department of
Communications, Energy and Natural Resources
as part of Department of the Taoiseach’s “Better
Regulation” drive.
Finally, the audited Financial Statements for the
year ended 31st December 2015 are provided at
the end of this Annual Report.
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Energy
Safety
Upstream Energy Safety Regime
Petroleum Safety

The main functions of the CER under the Act are to:

The CER commenced regulating upstream petroleum
exploration and extraction activities in December 2013
in accordance with its functions under the Petroleum
(Exploration and Extraction) Safety Act 2010 (the Act).
The regulations are supplemented by a collection of written
regulatory documents and procedures – collectively titled
the Petroleum Safety Framework (the Framework). All
documents are available via the Energy Safety – Petroleum
section of the CER website.

• Regulate designated petroleum activities with respect to
safety;
• Issue safety permits;
• Monitor and enforce compliance by petroleum
undertakings;
• Investigate and report to the Minister on petroleum
incidents; and
• Provide safety information to the public, when
appropriate.

Safety Permits
Petroleum undertakings must obtain a safety permit
from the CER prior to carrying out designated
petroleum activities, including well work, production
and decommissioning activities. During 2015, the CER
undertook four assessments of applications for safety
permits.
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In November 2014, the CER commenced the assessment
of the safety permit application for the PSE Kinsale Limited/
PSE Seven Heads Limited production activities. The
assessment of the safety permit application continued
throughout 2015 and was completed January 2016.
In December 2014 the CER received a safety permit
application for well work with respect to the Corrib gas

In April 2015 CER received and commenced the
assessment of a safety permit application for well
work activity for a PSE Seven Heads exploration well.
The assessment was completed in July 2015 and
a safety permit was issued for the well work, which
commenced later that month.
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field. This assessment was completed in March
2015 and a safety permit was issued for the well
work, which commenced in June 2015.

In May 2015 the CER assessed a temporary material
change application for the existing Shell Exploration
and Production Ireland Limited (SEPIL) production
safety permit SP01. This assessment was completed
in June 2015 and a new safety permit issued to
incorporate the temporary material change to the
originally accepted safety case.

Table 1: Completed safety permit application assessments by the CER 2015
Safety Permit Type

Application Date

Well Work

December 2014

Well Work

April 2015

Production (temporary
material change)

May 1st 2015

Petroleum Undertaking(s)

Application Status

SEPIL
Statoil
Vermilion

SP10 permit issued
March 2015.
Well work completed

PSE Seven Heads Limited
Lansdowne Celtic Sea Limited

SP11 permit issued
July 2015.
Well work completed

SEPIL
Statoil
Vermilion

SP 01B permit issued
June 11th 2015.

The safety permit SP01B for SEPIL and partners production activity was the only safety permit in operation at
the end of 2015.

Monitoring compliance – Audits and Inspections
During the assessment of applications for safety
permits and following the issuance of safety permits,
the CER carries out audits and inspections of the
petroleum activities. In 2015, these included:
• The offshore inspection of drilling rigs prior to
entering Irish waters;
• The offshore inspection of the well work activities
on location during operations in Ireland;
• The offshore inspections of the Kinsale Alpha and
Bravo platforms; and

Reports of Audits and Inspections (ROAIs) were
issued to the petroleum undertakings for each of
the inspections above. Petroleum undertakings were
required to submit a plan to the CER for addressing
the findings set out in the ROAIs within one month
of receipt of the ROAI. In all cases in 2015, the
petroleum undertakings responded to the ROAI
with a plan for addressing the findings within the
required month. The findings of the inspections are
also tracked by CER as part of its ongoing monitoring
function. This tracking ensures all actions and
findings are closed out to CER satisfaction.

• The onshore inspection of the Corrib gas field
terminal at Bellanaboy, Co. Mayo.

Enforcement Actions
The CER issued enforcement actions in 2015
against a production activity following identification
of a non-compliance. As the non-compliance was
associated with a designated petroleum activity being

carried out under two separate safety permits, two
Directions to Submit an Improvement Plan were
issued.
The non-compliance was identified as part of CER’s
ongoing compliance assurance activities and related
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to the provision of a safe refuge, as required by
the Safety Case Guidelines. The CER directed the
petroleum undertaking to submit an improvement
plan specifying the actions proposed to return the
activity to a state of compliance with the approved

safety case. The petroleum undertaking submitted
the Improvement Plan and on review, the CER was
satisfied that the Improvement Plan submitted was
adequate. Progress against the Improvement Plan
is monitored until the actions are closed out.

Petroleum Incidents
All petroleum undertakings were required to
report on petroleum incidents to the CER in 2015,
regardless of whether they held a safety permit or
not. Guidance for petroleum undertakings for the
reporting of petroleum incidents is provided in
the CER document Guidance for Notification of

Petroleum Incidents. The guidance document
provides the full list of incident types as referenced
in the following table. It should be noted that
the numbers below include all well work and
production activities in 2015.

Table 2: Petroleum incidents reported to the CER in 2015
Number
Reported

Incident
Reference

Incident Type

B1

Injury to worker resulting from a designated petroleum activity

6

E

Failure or malfunction of plant and equipment used as part or in a manner
closely associated with petroleum infrastructure

6

F1+F17

Uncontrolled fire or explosion

1

F2

Uncontrolled release of petroleum gas that could have resulted in a fatality or
a serious injury

1

F4

Uncontrolled release of a non-petroleum hazardous substance that could
have resulted in a fatality or a serious injury

1

F7

Instance of a stand-by vessel not being in a position to provide rescue to
persons on offshore petroleum infrastructure

4

F9

Mustering on onshore or offshore petroleum infrastructure, other than for
planned drills

22

F11

Activation of a blow-out prevention or diversion system, or activation of any
other emergency shutdown device to provide well control

1

Total 2015

42

Each petroleum incident notification received was reviewed by the CER and a determination was made as
to the extent of incident investigation required on a case by case basis. Where it was deemed that further
information on the petroleum incident was required, this was requested from the petroleum undertaking
and obtained in each case.
As with the review and recording of the safety
reports, the CER reviews petroleum incidents
received as part of its overall regulation of the
petroleum undertakings. This means that while
an individual petroleum incident as set out above
may have been closed to the satisfaction of the
CER at the time of the incident, the CER retained
and exercised its right to follow up on the topic in
question during future audits and inspections of
the petroleum undertaking.
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Further information on the incidents is as
follows:
With regard to B1 incidents, all injuries were of a
minor nature and resulted in the injured person
either returning to work the following day or put on
light duties.
With regard to the F1+F17 incident, the
notification related to office waste management
activities where a minor fire broke out inside the
back of the shredding truck. The CER carried out
a desktop investigation of the incident following
which further information on the incident was
requested from the petroleum undertaking. On

receipt and review of the information from the
petroleum undertaking, no further action was
required.

With regard to the F2 incident, the notification
related to a gas leak of approximately 6kg due
to a defective blank fitting. The CER carried out
a desktop investigation of the incident following
which further information on the incident was
requested from the petroleum undertaking. On
receipt and review of an investigation incident
report from the petroleum undertaking no further
action was required by CER.

Implementation of the Offshore Safety
Directive 2013/30/EU

With regard to the F4 incident, this was reported
due to the potential for the release of combustion
gases due to equipment failure. On activation of
the associated alarms, the appropriate remedial
actions were taken by the petroleum undertaking
and the equipment was shut down until the
internal incident investigations were progressed.
On receipt and review of the information from
the petroleum undertaking, no further action was
required by CER.
With regard to the F7 incidents, the majority of
notifications related to the stand by vessel for an
offshore installation returning to shore for safety
reasons due to adverse weather. Such actions
can be taken by petroleum undertakings for
safety reasons when adverse weather is present.
On receipt of the notifications, the CER reviewed
the procedures in place and discharged by the
petroleum undertaking while the stand by vessel is
off station. No further action was required.
With regard to the F11 incident, the notification
related to a planned activation of a blowout
preventer as part of a well work activity.
Although this step was planned by the petroleum
undertaking, it was required to be reported
to the CER as per the Petroleum Incident
Regulations stating that “any activation of a blowout prevention or diversion system…” must be
reported. This planned step was in line with the
associated well work program and therefore the
CER required no further information.
With regard to the E and F9 incidents, the
majority of notifications related to commissioning
activities of the SEPIL and partners production
activity. During steady state operations, this
number of incident notifications relating to these
incident types would not be expected. However,
during commissioning activities the likelihood
of such occurrences is increased as safety
systems are being tested. The CER carried out a
desktop investigation of each incident following
which further information on the incidents were
requested from the petroleum undertaking. On
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receipt and review of an investigation incident
report from the petroleum undertaking no further
action was required by CER.

The CER continued its work on the implementation
of the Offshore Safety Directive throughout
2015. Following the successful transposition of
the Offshore Safety Directive via the Petroleum
(Exploration and Extraction) Safety Act 2015
in July 2015, in September the CER developed
and consulted on updates to a number of key
documents under the Framework. The finalised
documents were published in November. A
consultation process on updates to the remaining
Framework documents commenced in November
2015. The decision papers on these documents
are scheduled for publication in Q1 2016.
The CER also commenced work on updating
a number of Memoranda of Understanding
with other state agencies to incorporate its new
functions under the Petroleum (Exploration
and Extraction) Safety Act 2015. This work
is scheduled for completion in 2016 once the
Framework goes live.

International Engagement
The CER continued to actively engage with
European safety regulators through the North Seas
Offshore Authorities Forum (NSOAF). Petroleum
Safety team representatives participated in the
NSOAF EU Working Group, the Wells Working
Group and the Health, Safety and Environment
Working Group.
The CER also attended and actively engaged
with the European Union Offshore Authorities
Group (EUOAG). The EUOAG was set up in
2013 under Directive 2013/30/EU on the Safety
of Offshore Oil and Gas Operations (the ‘Offshore
Safety Directive’) and its objectives include the
sharing, prioritisation and supervision of the
development of guidelines on best practice and
the rapid exchange of information on incidents.
During 2015, the focus of EUOAG was on the
implementation of the Offshore Safety Directive.
The CER also input to multiple associated EUOAG
deliverables including the development of the
guidance for reporting petroleum incidents across
the EU.
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Downstream Energy Safety Regime
Regulatory Schemes for Gas Installers and
Electrical Contractors
Under the Electricity Regulation Act 1999, as
amended, the CER has statutory responsibility
for regulating certain activities of gas installers
(e.g. new installations, replacement or servicing of
existing appliances) and electrical contractors with
respect to safety. In order to fulfil its functions, the
CER appoints Safety Supervisory Bodies (SSBs)
to operate regulatory schemes for Registered
Gas Installers (RGIs) and Registered Electrical
Contractors (RECs).
The schemes are underpinned by Criteria
Documents which set out the manner in
which they are to be operated, including the
responsibilities of the SSBs, RGIs and RECs.
Both schemes maintain a system of registration
and require certification of the work undertaken.
In order to provide assurance to the CER that
the SSBs are fulfilling their obligations under
the relevant Criteria Document, the SSBs report
against a series of safety metrics on a quarterly
basis. This allows the CER to identify trends across
the gas and electrical schemes. Throughout 2015,
the CER also carried out a schedule of audits and
inspections of the supervisory bodies.
As the existing contracts with SSBs were due
to expire, during 2015, the CER undertook a
public procurement process to appoint a Gas
Safety Supervisory Body and an Electrical Safety
Supervisory Body for a seven period commencing
January 2016. This process resulted in the
appointment of the Register of Gas Installers of
Ireland Ltd. (RGII) and the Registered Electrical
Contractors of Ireland Ltd. (RECI) (operating under
the Safe Electric brand) for the period from 2016
until the end of 2022.

Statistics for Gas Installers and Electrical
Contractors
During 2015, the CER continued to monitor the
performance of the gas installer and electrical
schemes and to work towards improving the
schemes.
The data provided by the supervisory body shows
that there were 3,063 RGIs in Ireland 2015. This
number has remained relatively stable over the
last number of years. The sale of certificates also
remained strong with 241,778 certificates relating
to the servicing of appliances, 16,580 relating to
boiler replacement and 9,644 relating to new gas
installations.

28

Figures for the electrical scheme, which is
branded as Safe Electric, show that the number of
RECs increased during 2015 from 4,065 to 4,215.
The number of certificates sold during 2015
(148,678) continued to increase with certificate
sales up 20% overall compared to 2014. In
particular, certificates in relation to minor works
(e.g. the relocation of a light switch or the provision
of an additional socket to an existing radial circuit)
increased significantly by 24%, compared to
2014. Sale of domestic type certificates (<50kVA
type cert) continued to steadily improve during
2015 increasing by 24%.

Electrical and Gas Safety Prosecutions
Since the 1st October 2013, by law only RECs can
carry out Restricted Electrical Works, i.e. electrical
work in domestic premises. Minor electrical works
such as like for like changes, changing a switch,
adding a socket to an existing circuit or moving
a light fitting, are not covered by this legislation.
It is also a legal requirement that only RGIs may
carry out Gas Works as defined in S.I. 225 of 2009
and S.I. 299 of 2011. It is a criminal offence for
an individual or a company to describe him/her/
itself as an REC or and RGI, or in a manner likely
to suggest he/she/it is a REC or an RGI, when not
registered.
In 2015, the CER brought two cases of alleged
illegal electrical works before the courts. Of these,
one case was unsuccessful and the other case
was put forward to February 2016. The CER
subsequently achieved a successful prosecution
in this case and the unregistered party was
sentenced to six months imprisonment.
During 2015, the CER commenced 53
investigations relating to allegations of nonregistered parties carrying out Gas Works,
describing themselves as registered or describing
themselves in a manner likely to suggest they were
registered. Of these, 15 successful prosecutions
were undertaken by the CER in this area in 2015.
These prosecutions took place in Dublin, Laois,
and Wexford.
There have now been a total of 4 successful
prosecutions since the introduction of Restricted
Electrical Works into the Safe Electric regulatory
scheme and 26 successful prosecutions since the
introduction of the RGI regulatory scheme.

Competency Assessment
In order to ensure that all RGIs remain competent
to carry out Gas Works, they are required to

The CER discharges these responsibilities through
the ongoing operation of its Gas Safety Regulatory
Framework, which was initially published in
October 2007. During 2014, an updated version
of the Gas Safety Framework High Level Approach
Document was published 1 to reflect legislative
developments.

Non-Domestic Gas Works Consultation

Safety Cases & Material Changes
Assessments

At present, the requirement to be registered
to carry out Gas Works refers only to works
conducted on domestic type appliances. The CER
had previously indicated its intention to consider
the extension of the RGI regulatory scheme to
designate those works on gas fittings designed
to be used by commercial gas customers as
Gas Works. To this end, the CER published
consultation paper in 2014, followed by a
proposed decision paper in May 2015 and final
decision paper in October 2015. The final decision
paper sets how the existing scheme will be
extended to include non-domestic gas works, and
in particular, the types of works to be included.
The CER has committed to the development of an
industry working group and the publication of next
steps paper in 2016.

Gas Safety Framework
The CER has statutory responsibilities relating
to the safety of gas customers and the general
public as regards the shipping, supply, storage,
transmission, distribution and use of natural gas,
as well as with regard to certain specified LPG
undertakings.
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pass an assessment that has been accredited
to the ISO/IEC 17024 standard every five years.
Throughout 2015 the CER has continued
to oversee the interaction between industry
stakeholders, certification bodies, training
providers and accreditation bodies to facilitate the
implementation of the domestic gas assessment.

During 2015, five new natural gas undertakings
submitted safety cases to the CER for assessment.
These were all from shipper undertakings.
Additionally, CER continued to asses material
changes to existing safety cases. This included the
assessment of a safety case submitted by GNI as
a result of a material change regarding the transfer
of the network from Gaslink to GNI.
CER also received two LPG safety cases in 2014
– the first such safety cases submitted following
the inclusion of LPG undertakings operating
piped distribution networks to multiple domestic
customers in the Gas Safety Framework that
year. The assessment of these safety cases was
progressed during 2015, following which they
were accepted and LPG Safety Licences issued to
both undertakings.
The table below provides a list of all undertaking
whose safety cases have been accepted by the
CER to the end of 2015.

Table 3: List of accepted undertaking safety cases in 2015
Undertaking/Licensee

Transmission

Distribution

LPG
Distribution

Gas Storage

Aughinish Alumina

Shipper

Shipper/
Supplier

✔

Bord Gáis Energy

✔

Calor Teoranta

✔

Energia

✔

Electric Ireland

✔

ESB Energy
International

✔

ESB Independent
Energy

✔

Flogas Ireland Limited

✔

Flogas Natural Gas Ltd
Gas Networks Ireland

✔
✔

✔

1 Gas Safety Regulatory Framework for Ireland – High Level Approach Decision Paper CER/14/296
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Table 3: List of accepted undertaking safety cases in 2015
Undertaking/Licensee

Transmission

Distribution

LPG
Distribution

Gas Storage

Shipper

Gazprom Marketing &
Trading Retail Ltd

Shipper/
Supplier
✔

Huntstown Power

✔

Manx Utilities

✔

PSE Kinsale Energy

✔

✔

SSE Airtricity

✔

Statoil Exploration
Ireland Limited

✔

Statoil Gas Hibernia
Ltd

✔

Shell Energy Europe
Limited

✔

SSE Energy Supply
Limited

✔

Tynagh Energy Ltd

✔

Vayu Ltd

✔

Vayu Energy Limited

✔

Vermilion Energy
Ireland Limited

✔

Update of the Framework
The Framework also includes a set of supporting
documents that provide guidance to undertakings
to assist them in meeting their obligations. During
2015, the CER published a proposed policy
document providing guidance as to how safety
risks can be managed to a level that is as low as
reasonably practicable (ALARP). Undertakings are
required to document an ALARP assessment in
any safety case they submit to the CER. The CER
will carry out an assessment of the safety case
and decide whether the activity can proceed. The
policy document will assist undertakings in their
ALARP demonstrations.
Also during 2015, the CER commenced updating
the Safety Case Guidelines for Natural Gas
and LPG Licensed Undertakings to assist gas
undertakings in the development of their gas
safety cases for submission to the CER.

A final ALARP Guidance Policy Document2 and
a Decision Paper on the Safety Case Guidelines
for Natural Gas and LPG Undertakings 3 will be
published in Quarter 1 of 2016.

Monitoring and compliance – Audits and
Inspections
As part of the overall Gas Safety Framework, CER
completes an annual programme of audits and
inspection of undertakings against elements of
their safety cases. The topics to be included in
the programme are decided upon by taking into
account previous audit and inspection findings,
incident reports and safety case risk ratings.
In 2015, a total of eleven audits and inspections
were carried out on Gas Networks Ireland, the
distribution and transmission system operator
(DSO/TSO)). This included three inspections and
one audit on the distribution network and four

2 Policy paper, ALARP Guidance Part of the Petroleum Safety Framework and the Gas Safety Regulatory Framework, was published on
29 March 2016, CER/16/106.
3 Decision paper, Gas Safety Regulatory Framework for Ireland Gas Safety Case Guidelines for Natural Gas & LPG Licensed
Undertakings, was published on 29 March 2016, CER/16/101.
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investigations to help further develop safety policy
and to inform promotion and public awareness
activities for safe use of natural gas and LPG.

A total of four gas shipper and supplier audits were
completed in 2015. The purpose of these audits
is to ensure compliance with the Framework and
to verify that previously raised actions had been
addressed satisfactorily.

Reportable incidents – natural gas and LPG

Enforcement Actions
The enforcement powers of the CER regarding
both Natural Gas and LPG were expanded under
the 2012 Act. These were incorporated into the
Framework and act to significantly reinforce and
strengthen the CER’s role and powers as Energy
Safety Regulator. These powers are progressive
in nature and enable the CER to require an
undertaking to submit an Improvement Plan,
comply with an Improvement Notice or Prohibition
Notice and the restriction of certain activities
in certain circumstances. In the event of noncompliance or inadequate compliance by the
natural gas or LPG undertaking with specified
enforcement actions taken by the CER, the CER
can bring criminal prosecutions against natural
gas or LPG undertakings.
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inspections and two audits on the transmission
system. There was also one joint distribution and
transmission inspection.

Under the terms of their licence, all natural gas
and LPG undertakings are required to report
specific categories of incidents to the CER. The
categories of “reportable” incidents are
• Type A which involve a fatality;
• Type B which involve inpatient hospital
treatment of individuals; and
• Type C which involve property damage in
excess of €6,350 (natural gas) or €6,500 (LPG).
During 2015, there was one Type C incident
reported to the CER. The incident resulted in
damage to property caused when an LPG cylinder
was placed on top of an electric cooker during a
power outage and subsequently exploded when
the power was restored.

Incidents reportable under guidance –
natural gas

There was one formal enforcement action imposed
with respect to the natural gas transmission
network in 2015. During the course of a routine
inspection at a Transmission Above Ground
Installation (AGI), significant deficiencies were
noted with respect to site security and pipeline
supports. Due to the strategic importance and
perceived seriousness of the deficiencies, CER
issued a Direction to submit an Improvement Plan
to GNI (at the time Gaslink) under section 9JA of
the Electricity Regulation Act 1999, as amended.
The Direction was issued to Gaslink on 3 July
2015 and the Improvement Plan was submitted to
the CER within the required timeframe. The CER
was satisfied that the Improvement Plan submitted
was adequate.

In addition to “Reportable” incidents involving
natural gas, the CER may also be notified of
other incidents by Gas Networks Ireland where
they are of the view that CER may be concerned
or interested in the findings associated with
the event(s). These incidents are referred to as
“Reportable under Guidance” (RuG) incidents.
During 2015, a total of 24 such incidents were
reported to CER by GNI. These incidents included
those involving suspected release of carbon
monoxide from the use of natural gas, downstream
customer related incidents and third part damage
to the gas distribution or transmission networks.
On investigation by CER, four of the incidents did
not strictly meet the criteria, as defined in the Gas
Safety Framework and, in the case of a further
three incidents, the causes were not related to
natural gas of GNI.

Gas Safety Incidents

Voluntary reporting – LPG

As set out below, formal reporting arrangements
are in place whereby undertakings must report
specified incidents to the CER. Once an incident
has been reported, the CER may seek further
information regarding the incident from the
undertaking involved. Depending on the nature
of the incident, the CER may carry out an
investigation as to the cause and circumstances
of the incident. If appropriate, other agencies may
be involved in this investigation. The CER uses
any knowledge gained from the outcome of the

In addition to “reportable” incidents involving
LPG, undertakings may voluntarily report incidents
where they are of the view that it would be
desirable to report these to the CER. Two such
LPG incidents were voluntarily reported to the CER
in 2015. The causes of these incidents were an
explosion and carbon monoxide.
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Promotion and Public Awareness
Increasing public awareness of safety issues
regarding electrical and gas issues is a key
objective for the CER. In light of this, public
awareness campaigns highlighting these
issues were undertaken by the CER and other
stakeholders, in 2015. Further detail is provided
below.

Electrical Safety Promotion and Public
Awareness
In 2015 the CER ran a
“Safe Electric” safety
awareness campaign.
This was run across
multiple media including
TV, radio, press and
online. The campaign emphasised that only a
Registered Electrical Contractor (REC) can carry
out Restricted Electrical Works, i.e. electrical
work on domestic installations (excluding Minor
Works) and highlighted the importance of asking
for a certificate when the work is complete. It also
highlighted that it is an offence for a non-registered
contractor to describe themselves as a REC or act
in a manner likely to suggest that they are a REC.
The advertisements directed people towards the
www.safeelectric.ie website for more information.
Results from consumer awareness surveys carried
out in 2015 show that awareness of the Safe
Electric scheme and the need to only hire a REC
to carry out electrical work in the home increased.

Gas Safety Promotion and Public Awareness
The 2015 promotion programme continued to
focus on developing awareness amongst the
general public of the RGI scheme and Carbon
Monoxide (CO) safety. One of the highlights of
the 2015 campaign was the Carbon Monoxide
Awareness Week held in September 2015, as
further outlined below.
The programme of campaigns used a range
of mediums to develop public awareness and
generally includes on an on-going basis:
• Carbon Monoxide Awareness Week;
• Gas escapes awareness through TV, radio and
national press;
• Carbon Monoxide awareness and prevention
with TV, radio, leaflets, posters, national and
local press;
• Promotion of the RGI scheme and the need to
use a Registered Gas Installer through TV radio,
national press;
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• Increased vigilance when working in the vicinity
of buried gas apparatus through national and
local press and trade journals;
• Advertising of emergency details, advice and
contact information;
• Instructions to landowners with gas pipelines on
their property through on site advice, liaison and
instruction leaflets; and
• Gas safety leaflets circulated with gas bills.

Carbon Monoxide Awareness Week
Carbon Monoxide Awareness
Week took place from
Monday 21st to Sunday 27th
September 2015. This involved
a PR launch with the Minister
for Communications, Energy
and Natural Resources, Alex White, together with
advertising, radio, press on-line, social media
and television campaigns where the risk of
Carbon Monoxide poisoning and the importance
of Carbon Monoxide alarms were discussed. An
important element of the campaign was the active
involvement of people directly affected by Carbon
Monoxide.
The objective of the awareness week was to create
and maintain awareness of the dangers associated
with Carbon Monoxide and to communicate the
preventative measures that the public should take.
The three core messages of the campaign were:
• Carbon Monoxide can be released by any fuel
that burns, including coal, turf, oil, gas and
wood;
• Get fuel-burning appliances serviced and
chimneys swept every year;
• Install an audible carbon monoxide alarm in
your home.

To find out more about Carbon Monoxide
causes, symptoms, prevention and
protection measures, call 1850 79 79 79
or visit www.carbonmonoxide.ie.

Energy
Networks
Gas
The Commission for Energy Regulation
(CER) is responsible for the economic
regulation of the Irish gas network and
the supply of gas to end customers. The
CER aims to make sure that the gas
network in place meets the needs of the
Irish gas customer at a reasonable and
efficient cost.
The CER sets the tariffs for access
to and the use of the gas distribution
system and transmission system.
These tariffs are paid by end customers
connected to the gas distribution system.
Furthermore, the CER has statutory
duties to protect and monitor security
of supply of natural gas and to establish
policies to ensure adequate gas levels.
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The following details work completed by the CER’s gas
regulation team during 2015:

Implementation and Development of EU
Network Codes
As part of the EU Third Package a suite of Network
Codes were introduced in 2015. These Network Codes
establish rules for the wholesale gas market that apply
at interconnection points. During 2015 the Capacity
Allocation Mechanism (CAM), Balancing (BAL) and
Interoperability & Data Exchange (I &DE) Network Codes
came into force across all Member States.
As part of the implementation of these changes the CER
in its capacity as Chair of the Code Modification Forum
worked with the TSO and industry to implement these
rules for the 1st October. These Network Codes were
successfully implemented on time. Both the CAM and
Interoperability & Data Exchange Network Codes were
implemented in full. For the Balancing Network Code
the TSO is applying interim measures, which results in a
phased approach up until 2019.
The CER worked with fellow regulators in Northern
Ireland (NIAUR) and Great Britain (Ofgem) as well as

in use which was focused on recovering the historical
revenues of Gas Networks Ireland. At the same time
as the CER was undertaking the reform of the tariff
methodology, the European Commission was also
developing a Network Code on Tariffs. So as to future
proof the new methodology as much as possible, the
CER decided to base its reforms on the emerging
European thinking on the matter.

Finally, during 2015, the draft Network Code on
Harmonised Transmission Tariff structures moved
to the comitology stage of the process. The CER
provided support and advice to Department of
Communications Energy and Natural Resources
(DCENR) as part of this process. In addition, the
CER also provided input into the drafting process via
the Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators
(ACER) Gas Working Group and Agency for the
Cooperation of Energy Regulators Taskforce on
Tariffs.

Between 2014 and 2015 the CER undertook an
extensive consultation process, which included
the establishment of the Network Tariffs Liaison
Group (NTLG). This group consisted of the main
gas industry participants and included producers,
suppliers and the Transmission System Operator
(TSO) and met eight times between 2014 and 2015
before the finalisation of the CER decision on the
methodology. In addition, the CER also held a public
workshop in 2015 to alert the wider gas industry
(such as gas users) of the reform process that was
being undertaken.

The successful implementation of the EU Networks
codes further underpinned the competitiveness
and security of the Irish gas network. It increased
transparency and enhanced access to competitive
wholesale gas markets for Irish shippers and
suppliers. This work also clarified and underpinned
the commercial arrangements for NI shippers and
suppliers to access wholesale gas markets.

Gas Entry Exit Tariff Methodology
As part of the economic regulatory remit of the
CER, five yearly price controls are established for
Gas Networks Ireland. These Price controls set out
the revenue requirements for Gas Networks Ireland
which are remunerated via network tariffs. As early
as 2010, it was identified that the methodology used
to remunerate transmission revenues needed reform.
This was because reduced throughput from Moffat
(due to new sources of gas coming on stream) would
have increased the unit Moffat entry tariff, which sets
the price of wholesale gas in Ireland.
This higher Moffat entry tariff would in turn have
pushed up the wholesale price for gas in Ireland, as
other entry points supplying gas would have been
free to price up to, or just under the higher wholesale
cost of gas. Therefore, although Ireland would have
enjoyed more diverse sources of gas this would have
come at a significantly higher price to consumers.
In 2011, the CER began the reform process and set
out the rationale and principles that would endure
after the reform had taken place. This included a
decision to base future reform on a forward looking
cost concept, which is the cost of expansion of the
system. This is in contrast with the methodology then
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the Transmission System Operators across the
UK and Ireland on the commercial arrangements
underpinning gas flows between Britain and Ireland.
To ensure compliance with the Network Codes, the
CER worked closely with fellow National Regulatory
Authorities and Transmission System Operators
and implemented the requirements in time for 1st
October.

In May 2015 the CER published its Draft Decision
which outlined the methodology which the CER
proposed to implement. The choice of methodology
is known as a forward looking Matrix. This Draft
Decision Paper assessed the various methodologies
which the CER had modelled against a set of
criteria. This Draft Decision paper was followed by
the final decision paper in July 2015. This decision
directed Gas Networks Ireland to develop a Matrix
methodology approach which would be used to set
tariffs for entry onto and exit off the transmission
system.
The successful implementation of the new
methodology was completed in time for the coming
on stream of the new Corrib entry point in 2015
and avoided a price increase for all consumers that
would have arisen under the old tariff regime. It also
provides a stable regime with efficient signals for
potential new entry points to the Irish gas network.

Annual Network Tariffs
The CER is responsible for setting the network tariffs
that Gas Networks Ireland can charge for access to
both the transmission system and the distribution
system. The network tariffs are reviewed each year in
August and set for the following gas year which runs
from 1st October to the 30th September. In August
2015, the CER set the transmission tariffs using the
new Matrix methodology. Transmission tariffs apply
to the three active entry points, namely Moffat, Inch
and Bellanaboy.
In addition, there is one postalised exit tariff which
applies when gas exits the transmission system,
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either into the lower pressure distribution system
or to a directly connected site such as a power
plant. The CER also sets tariffs for use of the
distribution system, which is the lower pressure
system where businesses and households are
connected. These tariffs are set at the same time
as the transmission tariffs.
Overall, while there was significant change in
the methodologies for calculating the tariffs, the
outcome for consumers was broadly neutral, with
little or no change to their network charges.

Revenue Protection
Gas Networks Ireland’s Revenue Protection Team
aims to prevent meter tampering of Gas Networks
Ireland’s gas meters. Tampering with a gas meter
is illegal and a serious public safety concern. As
such, Gas Networks Ireland is actively attempting
to prevent any instances of meter tampering.
The CER continued to engage with industry
and Gas Networks Ireland regarding the
implementation of Gas Networks Ireland’s
Revenue Protection processes which aim to
deter meter tampering. Finalisation of Revenue
Protection processes are expected in 2016.

Connections Policy
The Gas Networks Ireland Network Development
Plan 2014-2023 indicated that aggregate annual
gas demand across the system is expected to
fall by 6% over a ten year period. Given that
the gas network costs are largely fixed, this
declining demand would lead to an increase in
unit network tariffs in the long run, and ultimately
consumer bills. To address this Gas Networks
Ireland submitted a number of proposals aimed at
stimulating demand efficiently (without significant
addition of infrastructure), this included proposed
amendments to their Connections Policy. The
Connections Policy is a document that sets out the
detailed criteria for the evaluation of extensions to
the gas network, including extensions to towns not
currently served by natural gas.
In January 2015, the CER issued a Consultation
Paper on Gas Networks Ireland’s proposals to
amend the Connections Policy (Version 3). The
proposals from Gas Networks Ireland aimed to
stimulate an increase in gas demand while not
requiring significant infrastructural investment.
The proposed amendments to the Gas Networks
Ireland Connections Policy are one part of a
demand side strategy, known broadly as Gas
Networks Ireland’s “Infill Strategy”. This strategy
aims, inter alia, to increase penetration of the gas
network in a cost effective manner.
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In September 2015, the CER issued its decision
with regard to the proposed amendments
submitted by Gas Networks Ireland. The aim of
the amendments are to facilitate connections
to the existing gas network while minimising the
need for further infrastructure investment by
Gas Networks Ireland. A new Connections Policy
(Version 4) was published in September 2015.
The CER will continue to monitor the effect
of the changes to the Gas Networks Ireland
Connections Policy, to this end Gas Networks
Ireland will prepare a formal report evaluating the
effectiveness of the changes. This report will be
submitted to the CER with any further amendment
proposals in 3 years (submitted by August 31st
2018).

New Towns
The CER assesses the connection of new towns
to the natural gas grid based on submissions from
Gas Networks Ireland.
The economic viability of new town connections is
determined by economic test.
In September 2015, the CER received a
submission from Gas Networks Ireland regarding
the connection of Listowel and Foynes to
the natural gas grid. The CER approved the
connection of the two aforementioned towns in
2016.

Compressed Natural Gas
The CER has a duty with regard to the licensing
of the supply of natural gas to end users, this
includes users of natural gas for vehicular
transport. In 2015, the CER issued a Consultation
Paper regarding the potential licensing
arrangements suitable for the suppliers of
Compressed Natural Gas for vehicular transport as
the Natural Gas Supply Licence was not suited to
the supply of natural gas to vehicles.
The CER received nine responses to the
Consultation. The CER will issue a final decision
in 2016.

Gas and Electricity Security of Supply
The CER actively participated in EU Gas Coordination group meetings throughout 2015,
which resulted in the updating of Ireland’s
2014-16 National Preventive Action Plan and
2014-16 National Gas Supply Emergency Plan.
Additionally, the CER submitted its Annual Report
to the Minister for Communications, Energy
and Natural Resources regarding the CER’s
implementation of Regulation (EU) 994/2010.

Following the conclusion of its review, the CER
intends issuing a decision paper in 2016.
Additionally, during 2015, the CER inputted
into the development of the EU Commission’s
second Projects of Common Interest (PCI) list,
and hosted Gas Electricity Emergency Planning
Group meetings in order to facilitate a co-ordinated
approach to emergency planning by Ireland’s gas
and electricity Transmission System Operators
(TSOs).

Licencing, Authorisations and Gas Consents
In accordance with EU Directive 2009/73/EC (“the
Directive”), Regulation (EC) 715/2009 and S.I.
No. 16 of 2015, the CER, as Ireland’s National
Regulatory Authority (NRA), is required to certify
whether Ireland’s gas Transmission System

Operator (i.e. Gas Networks Ireland) is “effectively
unbundled”. On the 31st of July 2015, the CER
received a Full Ownership Unbundling (FOU)
certification application on behalf of Gas Networks
Ireland and its wholly owned and controlled
subsidiary GNI-UK.
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As part of the CER’s role in ensuring electricity
security of supply, the CER launched a review
of existing fuel stock obligations on electricity
generators operating in Ireland (CER/15/213).
The objective of the review is to assess whether
changes to existing fuel stock obligations (as
specified in CER/09/001) are merited following
recent market changes including increased
interconnections, new sources of indigenous gas
and the opening and closure of generation plants.

Following a review of Gas Networks Ireland’s
FOU certification application, the CER issued
its preliminary certification decision to the EU
Commission (30th November 2015). The CER’s
preliminary certification decision confirmed the
CER’s intention to certify Gas Networks Ireland as
FOU compliant in 2016. Gas Networks Ireland was
certified in 2016.

Miscellaneous General Network Issues
In accordance with Article 22 of EU Directive
2009/73/EC, the CER launched a public
consultation (CER/15/203) on Gas Networks
Ireland’s 2015 Ten Year Network Development
Plan (NDP). Having considered responses
received, the CER deemed that Gas Networks
Ireland’s NDP was consistent with ENTSOG’s
community wide TYNDP, and was subsequently
approved by the CER (CER/15/231).

Electricity
The CER has a wide range of
functions related to the operation
of the electricity networks in
Ireland. Firstly, the CER regulates
the allowed revenues and network
charges of the monopoly utilities
that operate and own electricity
networks (Electricity Network
Revenue Review).

Further, the Government policy to achieve
the 2020 renewable targets poses significant
challenges to the electricity system, and the CER
must ensure that the electricity system operates in
a safe and secure manner, despite the increasing
levels of wind generation (DS3 Programme).
Lastly, the CER oversees the amendments of the
transmission and distribution codes and ensures
that the operation of the Irish electricity system is
in line with the European regulations, in particular
the European Network Codes (Transmission and
Distribution Codes).
During 2015, the CER’s Electricity Networks team
focused on the following areas:

Electricity Networks Revenue Review
The CER regulates the level of revenue which the
electricity System Operators and Asset Owners can
recover from customers to cover their costs. ESB
Networks owns the entire network; it also operates
the lower voltage distribution network, while
EirGrid operates the higher voltage transmission
network. Electricity transmission and distribution
systems are natural monopolies. If unregulated,
these monopolies could be inefficient and impose
prices that were too high.
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As set out in legislation, CER regulates the network
utilities’ activities and income. This is in order to
protect the interest of electricity consumers, while
ensuring that the utilities are able to develop and
maintain the electricity network to a high standard
in the most efficient way, and deliver secure
electricity supplies.
The nature of such regulation is that every five
years CER sets the amount of money that the
utilities can collect from electricity customers for
the following five years. CER has made four price
determinations so far, for the periods: 2000 to
2005; 2006 to 2010; 2011 to 2015, and 2016
to 2020. The revenue is set at a level that would
allow a well-run business to fund its activities.
Funding is viewed from two perspectives.
The first is having enough money to pay for their
operations, maintenance and capital investments.
The second is having a stable enough income
to enable them to access international capital
markets to borrow the funds necessary to carry
out their capital investments.
The utilities’ revenues are set through a
combination of examining the specific underlying
activities and costs of the relevant utility and
also benchmarking against best international
companies in this field. Through this review
the utilities are given an incentive to operate
efficiently, to make cost reductions, and to provide
high levels of customer service.
The allowed revenue is collected from suppliers
via Transmission and Distribution Use of System
charges – TUoS and DUoS – which are then
recovered from final customers. These form
approximately 7% and 25% of the final electricity
bill respectively.
This five year approach is used by many other
energy regulators as well as in a number of other
regulated sectors. It ensures that consumers are
protected, while offering the regulated businesses
a clear and stable financial environment.
During 2015, the CER completed the fourth
review of electricity transmission and distribution
businesses, covering the amount of revenue
that ESB Networks and EirGrid can recover from
their customers over the 2016 to 2020 period
in the form of TUoS and DUoS charges. The
review involved an assessment of the companies’
investment plans and operational costs for 20162020, and an assessment of their performance
over the previous five years (2011 to 2015).
During this review, the CER also reviewed the
utilities’ requests to adjust their revenues for the
period of 2014/15, in accordance with the normal
practice.
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Commencing in mid-2014, the CER and its
consultants engaged in a lengthy information
gathering, analysis and consultation process with
the utilities in order to determine the levels of
efficiency in the companies and the appropriate
allowances for the next five years. The analysis
involved reviews of multiple submissions by the
utilities on both their historic and forecast costs,
meetings and discussions with the utilities on their
submissions, site visits to network installations,
and the benchmarking of selected elements
of the utilities’ costs and performance against
comparable utilities in other jurisdictions, in
this case it has been against distribution and
transmission companies in the UK.
Following an extensive consultation, the CER
published its decision approving network utilities’
revenue in December 2015. The decision set
out the network utilities’ revenue for the next
five years, and provided information on the
work or investments underlying that revenue,
the efficiencies which the utilities have built into
their operations, and incentives on the utilities
to provide a high quality of service to their
customers.

Connection and Grid Access Policy
The CER sets the policy for a fair and nondiscriminatory access to the electricity network in
Ireland. Existing access policy is captured under
two broad policy approaches: (1) the Group
Processing Approach (GPA) and (2) the Non Group
Processing Approach.
Under the GPA, the System Operators (EirGrid
and ESB Networks) issue offers for connection to
the electricity network in batches called ‘Gates’.
Eligibility for inclusion in a Gate has been based
on criteria set out `and 2009. The current Gate
3 provided for circa. 3,900 MW of renewable
offers to primarily wind generators, but was also
open to conventional (non-renewable) generators.
Since then, the CER has remained focused on
ensuring that these offers are issued in an efficient
manner and that associated policy allows for
developers to accept their offers and proceed
to build. Successful delivery of Gate 3 will play
a significant role in the achievement of Ireland’s
2020 renewables targets (40% of electricity
consumption from renewable sources) whilst
transitioning Ireland’s electricity sector to a low
carbon model.
The below table shows the offer acceptance status
of Gate 3 at the end of 2015 indicating a significant
positive uptake:

DS0 offers
Contracted
(yet to
connect)

Lapsed/
Rejected

TSO Offers
Projects
energised/
connected

Contracted
(yet to connect)

Lapsed/
Rejected

Projects
energised/
connected

Renewable

Conventional

3

2

0

0

0

3

7

0

4

0

1

1

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

1

7

1

1

1

1

1

0

1

0

0

0

1

0

A

16

B

10

C

3

D

7

E

27

F

4

G

9

H1

13

5

1

1

0

1

H2

5

3

0

0

0

1

I

1

0

0

0

0

J

2

2

0

2

2

K

1

1

0

0

0

1

Total

98

2

18

21

3

9

5

Total MW
accepted

1544.2

15.8MW

224.98

1395.6

297.4

727MW

513.9MW

1

1
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Area

The non GPA approach relates to the processing
of connection offers for small, renewable and low
carbon generators that fulfil public interest criteria.
Applications for non-GPA connection offers are
reviewed by the CER on a case-by-case basis.
In 2015, while continuing to monitor the Gate 3
delivery, the CER launched a review of the current
connection policy to ensure it is fit for purpose for
future system requirements, and in line with the
existing legal framework. At the end of 2015, the
CER has published its initial thinking and high-level
proposals as to the future Enduring Connection
Policy in a Consultation Paper CER/15/284. In
particular, the CER considers that the approach
taken for Gate 3 may no longer be appropriate,
and that subsequent gates may need to be smaller,
more frequent, and not focused on specific
technology types. The CER also consulted on a
number of Transitional Arrangements that could be
put in place during the interim period in order to
prepare the ground for the implementation of the
Enduring Connection Policy. Decisions on these
policies will be published in 2016 and 2017.
In addition, the CER continued to work on policies
which underpins Gate 3 or that will facilitate
successful Gate 3 outcomes. The CER reviewed
the System Operators’ proposals to amend rules for

the progression of subgroups under the GPA. The
new rules managing subgroups as they move to the
construction phase are set out in CER/15/098A of
May 2015. Further, the CER reviewed the existing
provisions on Maximum Export Capacity (MEC)
Security, and will take a decision on the matter in
2016.

DS3 Programme – Delivering a Secure,
Sustainable Power System
Increasing levels of wind generation on the system
poses significant challenges to system operation.
In 2012, Transmission System Operators (TSOs)
in Ireland and Northern Ireland (EirGrid and
SONI) began a multi-year programme, ‘Delivering
a Secure, Sustainable Electricity System’ (DS3
Programme). The aim of the DS3 Programme is
to meet the challenges of operating the electricity
system in a secure manner while achieving
Ireland’s target of 40% of electricity coming from
renewable sources by 2020.
This level of renewable integration on a
synchronous system is unprecedented and
presents significant challenges for the realtime operation of the power system. The DS3
Programme puts in place the key policies,
procedures and system tools to facilitate an
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increase of variable non-synchronous renewable
generation over the coming years. This metric is
referred to as SNSP – System Non-Synchronous
Penetration. Currently the TSOs only allow up to

50% instantaneous penetration of renewables.
Through successful delivery of DS3, it is aimed to
increase this to 75%.
The DS3 programme is made up of 11 different
work streams focusing on system performance,
system policies and system tools (diagram below).

Performance
Monitoring

SYSTEM PERFO
R

SY
ST

DS3
SY

Voltage

Renewable
Data

ICIES
POL

Grid Code

CE
AN
M

EM

System
Services

Frequency

S T E M TO O L S

WSAT

Control Centre
Tools

Model Dev. &
Studies
The DS3 programme progressed well during 2015,
and a high level of engagement with Industry was
achieved. In the wider DS3 programme significant
progress was achieved in a number of areas with
three work streams in the DS3 programme that
have completed successfully (Grid Code, Model
Development and Studies and Renewable Data).
Following on from the publication in December
2014, of the SEM Committee decision paper on
the high-level design for the procurement of DS3
System Services (SEM-14-108), the CER with the
Northern Ireland’s Utility Regulator and the TSOs
(EirGrid and SONI) have worked together during
2015 to develop detailed project plan information
and to ensure delivery of key policy and technical
deliverables.
Project plans were developed by both the
Regulatory Authorities and TSOs and published,
and specific work streams were created and
resourced within the TSOs to facilitate detailed
development of DS3 programme.
Quarterly updates were published during 2015
detailing progress by the TSOs and RAs within the
specific work streams. Further detail on the work
streams is captured in the below diagram below.
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Diagram: DS3 work streams
Regulated Tariffs
• Tariff Methodology consultation
System Services Volumes
• Volume Calculation Methodology
Qualification Process
• Qualification Process Consultation
Auction Design
• Auction design consultation
Contract Design
• Contractual principles consulted on
Product Design and I-SEM
• Scalar design developed
• I-SEM interactions examined
Interim Tariffs and Contracts workstreak
• Development of interim tariffs and contracts

Rate of Change of Frequency (ROCOF)
As explained above, the DS3 Programme aims to
address the challenges of integrating renewable
generation on the electricity system. One of the key
projects within DS3 is to resolve increased Rate of
Change of Frequency (ROCOF) that may arise on
the system following large system disturbances.
Analysis has indicated that high ROCOF events
could threaten the security of the power system
during times of high wind penetration. To resolve
this issue, TSOs proposed increased ROCOF
standards for generators connected to the power
system. The increased ROCOF standard will

reduce the level of curtailment for wind farms
and will deliver significant savings to consumers
through lower wholesale energy prices.
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Several industry workshops were held with
industry to outline the various policy proposals
under development and facilitate engagement.
Throughout 2015, the CER’s focus was on two
of the DS3 work streams – DS3 System services
which falls under the authority of the SEM
Committee as an ‘SEM matter’ and the Rate of
Change of Frequency (ROCOF, explained below)
which remains a CER matter.

In May 2014, the CER approved the TSO proposal
to introduce a ROCOF Grid Code standard of 1
Hertz per second (Hz/s) for Ireland calculated over
500 milliseconds (ms). The new standard will only
be implemented if this is permissible from security
of supply perspective. To determine this, the CER
commenced a ROCOF Implementation Project
that includes three strands:

Generator Studies
Each generator on the system has been
categorised as high, medium, or low priority with
a deadline to complete their ROCOF studies by the
end of May 2016, November 2016, or November
2017 respectively. This involves electrical and
mechanical studies to determine whether the
generators can comply with the new ROCOF
standard of 1 Hz/s over 500ms. The table below
(Table 3) outlines the sequence for carrying out
these studies.

Table 3:
Category

Ireland Units
Station

1 – High Priority
18 mths

Units ID

Capacity (MW)

Owner

Turlough Hill

TH1
TH2
TH3
TH4

73
73
73
73

ESB
ESB
ESB
ESB

Moneypoint

MP1
MP2
MP3

285
285
285

ESB
ESB
ESB

Sealrock

SK3
SK4

81
81

AAL
AAL

Dublin Bay

DB1

399

SynerGen

Aghada CCGT

AD2

431

ESB

Whitegate
CCGT

WG1

444

Centrica

Meath W2E

IW1

15

Indaver
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Table 3: contd.
Category

Ireland Units
Station

2 – Mid Priority
24 mths

3 – Low Priority
36 mths

Units ID

Capacity (MW)

Owner

Huntstown

HNC
HN2

337
395

Viridian
Viridian

Poolbeg CCGT

PBC

463

ESB

Tynagh

TYC

384

TPL

Aghada

AD1

258

ESB

Edenderry
OCGTs

ED3
ED5

58
58

EPL
EPL

Tawnaghmore

TP1
TP3

52
52

SSE
SSE

Rhode

RP1
RP2

52
52

SSE
SSE

Aghada OCGTs

AT1
AT2
AT4

90
90
90

ESB
ESB
ESB

Tarbert

TB1
TB2
TB3
TB4

54
54
241
243

SSE
SSE
SSE
SSE

Lough Ree

LR4

91

ESB

West Offaly

W04

137

ESB

Edenderry

ED1

118

EPL

Ardnacrusha

AA1-4

86

ESB

Erne

ER1-4

65

ESB

Lee

LE1-3

27

ESB

Ll1,2,4,5

38

ESB

Marina

MRC

88

ESB

North Wall

NW5

104

ESB

Liffey

42

4 – Exempted
(Closing)

Great Island

Gl1
Gl2
Gl3

54
49
109

SSE
SSE
SSE

5 – New CCGT
(Currently undergoing
compliance assessment)

Great Island
CCGT

Gl4

431

SSE

In parallel, ESB Networks is progressing the
DSO Implementation Project to ensure that the
distribution system can operate safely if the TSO
operates the system to the new 1Hz/s ROCOF
standard. At the most recent Distribution Code
Review Panel meeting on 15 December 2015,
three modifications were passed relating to
voltage and frequency withstand capabilities
of all distribution connected generators. These
modifications ensure that all future generator
connections will be capable of tolerating a wide
range of system disturbances.

The progress of the ROCOF Implementation
Project has so far been in general very positive,
and raised no significant technical issues.
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DSO Implementation Project

Transmission and Distribution Codes
The CER has continued through 2015 to oversee
the transmission and distribution grid codes,
including making decisions on Grid Code and
Distribution Code modifications and derogation
applications. In particular, work in this area
focused on taking account of developments in
Demand Side Participation (DSP), DS3 and the
future transposition of European Network Codes
into the Irish codes.

Alternative / Complementary Solution
As part of the ROCOF Alternative / Complementary
Solutions project, in December 2015, the TSOs
issued a Report on ‘ROCOF Alternative Solutions
Phase 2’ for stakeholder consultation.
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Water
The CER’s role as the economic regulator
of water and wastewater services is
established in law. The Water Services
Act 2013 was enacted in March 2013
and empowered the CER to commence
preparation for the role of Economic
Regulator for public water and waste
water services as provided by Irish Water
to domestic and business customers.

The Water Services (No. 2) Act 2013 was then enacted
on 25th December 2013 and with effect from 1st January
2014, the Act provides for the transfer of water services
functions from 31 Local Authorities (formally 34) to
Irish Water with the CER assuming the role of Economic
Regulator for the sector. Under this legislation, the CER
approved Irish Water’s Water Charges Plan for the period
Q4, 2014 to 2016.
Further legislation in late 2014 reflected policy decisions
taken by Government in November, including the decision
to delay the introduction of domestic charges until January
2015. Following enactment of The Water Services Act
2014 domestic water charges were subject to a cap. This
legislation also enabled the establishment of a customer
consultative forum which is now known as The Public
Water Forum. In addition, this legislation provides the
statutory footing for the CER to provide a dispute resolution
service for customers of Irish Water who have unresolved
complaints.
The following details work completed by the CER’s water
regulation team during 2015:
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Water Charges Plan
In March 2015, the CER published a Decision
Paper alongside a revised Water Charges Plan
(WCP) which captured the changes brought about
by the new legislation. The modified, approved
water charges plan covers the period from 1
October 2014 to 31 December 2016 and can be
accessed on the CER website.
• (CER/15/005) CER Water Charges Plan Decision
Paper 2015
• (CER/15/001) Irish Water’s Water Charges Plan
Alongside the changes to the level of metered
and unmetered charges which, following the new
legislation are now subject to a cap for domestic

customers (Table 4), the revised WCP reflected the
delayed onset of domestic charges until January
2015. It also catered for the calculation of rebates
for domestic customers and introduced charges for
additional services.
The CER’s decision essentially simplified the
charging framework and also proposed to put
in place easier payment options for customers.
The new CER decision resulted in a revised lower
revenue requirement of €1,969m for the first
revenue control period, as The Water Services Act
2014 means that Irish Water is no longer required
to pay commercial rates.

Table 4: Domestic water charges cap
Household Adult
Occupancy Status

Water Supply Charge
€ per year

Wastewater Charge
€ per year

Combined Charge
€ per year

One Adult

80

80

160

Two and over Adults

130

130

260

Irish Water Revenue Review Project
During 2015, the CER initiated a project to put
in place the second interim review control for
Irish Water (IRC2). The project will set an overall
level of revenue which the utility can collect from
customers and through Government subvention
during the period 1 Jan 2017 to 31 Dec 2018.
This will cover Irish Water’s costs including
those associated with major capital projects and
operational tasks (e.g. responding to outages).
The public consultation process on this project was
initiated in May 2015 with the publication of a CER
Discussion Paper (CER/15/096). The paper invited
comments on the duration of the revenue control,
the suitability of the Capital Asset Pricing Model

(CAPM), the suitability of revenue-cap regulation,
and all other matters relating to the revenue
control.
In mid-2015, Business Planning Questionnaires
(BPQs) were circulated to the utility. The BPQs
request information on historic and forecast costs,
to assist the CER in setting an appropriate level of
revenue for Irish Water. The information received
in response to the BPQs will feed into consultation
and decision papers on appropriate revenue for
Irish Water, including targets for efficiencies with
respect to CAPEX, OPEX and outputs expected for
money spent. The CER intends to publish in Q3,
2016 and Q4, 2016 respectively.

Irish Water Capital Investment
Plan 2014-2016
Irish Water submitted its Capital Investment Plan
2014-2016 (CIP) to the CER whilst building its
understanding of the scale and nature of its assets
and of projects previously committed to by Local
Authorities under the Water Services Investment
Programme (WSIP). In addition, Irish Water was
commencing work on its first Water Services

Strategic Plan (WSSP) when it submitted its CIP
2014 – 2016 to the CER. The CER approved an
allowance for capex of €1,946 million, which
included the opening Regulatory Asset Base
(RAB), from the period Q4 2014-2016.
Further to engagement with Irish Water regarding
the necessary on-going review and refinement
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of the CIP 2014-2016, during the first interim
revenue control period the CER did not put in place
a formal monitoring and reporting regime at this
stage as wished, to ensure better information was
in place on assets and plans for investment. In that

context, the CER reviewed updates from Irish Water
regarding the progression of the CIP 2014 – 2016
throughout 2015 and is working on putting in place
an appropriate monitoring regime in relation to the
second capital investment plan (2017-2018).

First Fix Free Scheme
In May 2014, the Government announced a
funding allocation of €51 million for a First Fix
Free Scheme to be operated by Irish Water
for households. This was to address excessive
leakage in the system and to assist in water
conservation. Following a public consultation
(CER/15/074), the CER published a Decision
Paper on Irish Water’s First Fix Free Scheme
(CER/15/178) in August 2015.

Under the scheme Irish Water fixes leaks for
domestic customers free of charge. Since the CER
decision, Irish Water has operated the scheme
and estimates that over 34 million litres of drinking
water per day have been saved to date. Irish Water
submits quarterly reports on the operation of the
scheme to the CER, and publishes these reports on
its website. In accordance with the CER’s Decision,
the scheme will continue to the extent that Irish
Water can demonstrate to the CER tangible
benefits of the Scheme for customers.

Customer Handbook
In April and May 2014, the CER carried out
public consultations on the requirements for Irish
Water’s Codes of Practice, Customer Charter
and Terms & Conditions of supply for water
and wastewater services. These requirements
were combined into the Irish Water Customer
Handbook. The preparation of these documents
is in accordance with the Water Services
(No. 2) Act 2013. Under this legislation, Irish
Water must prepare and submit its Codes of
Practice for CER approval relating to performance
standards, billing, payment, communication,
complaints and reporting.

In August 2014, the CER published its final
decision on the Irish Water Customer Handbook
comprising 353 customer service obligations which
Irish Water must implement.
In 2015 the CER embarked on a programme
of reviewing Irish Water’s implementation of the
obligations in the Customer Handbook. Irish
Water has made good progress with more than
90% of the obligations now implemented and will
submit plans to complete the remaining work on
implementation to the CER shortly.

Irish Water Connection Policy
The Water Services Act (No.2) 2013, has
empowered the CER to direct Irish Water to submit
a WCP which details the charging of customers for
the provision of water services and for water and/or
wastewater connections. In September 2014, the
CER directed Irish Water to continue to apply the
existing connection charging policies and related
charges, which were in place on 31st December
2013, until the CER had necessary information
to examine the existing arrangements. This
direction is reflected in the Water Charges Plan
(CER/15/001).
In 2015 the CER worked with Irish Water to agree
the project work plan and timelines for establishing
Irish Water’s enduring Connection Charging Policy.
As well as this, the approach to consulting on
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the connection charges, Connection Charging
Policy and associated ancillary documents was
also finalised. Prior to establishing Irish Water’s
Connection Charging Policy, it was necessary
to understand the existing connection charging
regime across all 34 Local Authorities.
From an initial analysis, over 700 connection
charges (including development contribution
levies) exist across the 34 Local Authorities. These
charges may vary in level, underlying costs and
categorisation. The aim of developing a new Irish
Water Connection Charging Policy is to generate
a more harmonised methodology of charging for
connections to the public water and wastewater

The analysis of the connection charges
commenced in 2015 and will provide context to the
development of Irish Water’s enduring Connection
Charging Policy and proposed connection charges.
The publication of the work plan and consultation
process for the establishing Irish Water’s
Connection Charging Policy has been revised to Q3
of 2016.

Non-Domestic Tariffs
Since 1st January 2014, Irish Water has been
responsible for charging non-domestic water
customers. In September 2014, the CER directed
Irish Water to continue to apply the existing nondomestic tariffs, which were in place on 31 st
December 2013, until the CER had the necessary
information to examine the structure and determine
the level of charges.
Currently there are 44 distinct billing authorities
(effectively, the Local Authorities acting as billing
agents for Irish Water) operating in the nondomestic water sector in Ireland, billing over
200,000 non-domestic customers. This has
resulted in the establishment of over 500 different
tariff arrangements for water and wastewater
services.
Each billing authority has developed its own
method of charging for water services and
collecting data from their customers. This has led
to a wide range of non-domestic tariff levels, tariff
categories, methodologies, applications, billing
arrangements and billing cycles across the country.
In 2015, the CER engaged with Irish Water to
develop a project plan for the establishment of
Irish Water’s Non-domestic Tariff Framework. The
objective of the Non-domestic Tariff Framework
Project is to develop a more harmonised and
coherent suite of non-domestic tariffs for water
and wastewater service, which will bring benefits to
customers in terms of transparency, simplicity and
equity.
To date, the CER has undertaken extensive work
in preparation for public consultations of the NonDomestic Tariff Framework Project. This includes
establishing the approach to consulting on Irish
Water’s Non-Domestic Tariff Framework and
agreeing the detailed timeline and deliverables
with Irish Water. The publication of the consultation
papers on the Tariff Framework will commence in
Q1 2017.

The Public Water Forum
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networks. A more harmonised approach will be
beneficial to customers in terms of transparency,
simplicity and equity.

The Public Water Forum was established under
The Water Services Act 2014 as an independent
consumer consultative forum. The primary purpose
of the Forum is to represent the interests of the
public, playing a crucial role in ensuring that water
consumers are represented in the development of
public water policy. Under the new legislation the
CER was empowered with recruiting members
for The Public Water Forum and completed this
recruitment in October 2015.
The Forum is made up of 32 members in total
plus a Chair and Secretary. Dr. Tom Collins was
appointed the Chair of the Forum by the Minister
following enactment of the new legislation. The
CER acts a secretary to the Forum providing
administrative support and technical advice. Twelve
members were drawn from organisations, each
representing a specific sector of interest with the
other 20 representing domestic water consumers.
The domestic members have been selected in
order to be representative of Irish society generally,
balanced in terms of gender, age and region and
reflective of the urban and rural population.
The CER recognises the important role of the
Public Water Forum and looks forward to engaging
fully and providing all necessary support.

Non-Domestic Water User Group
In 2015 the CER progressed work to develop a
Non-Domestic Water User Group. The aim of the
Group is to facilitate direct engagement with nondomestic water and wastewater customers of Irish
Water and to understand their needs and priorities
as regulatory policies are developed over the
coming years. In 2015 the CER finalised the terms
of reference for the Non-Domestic Water User
Group and the 1st meeting is scheduled to take
place during the summer 2016.

Tariff Discounts to Non-Domestic Large
Water Users
In March and April 2015 the CER carried out a
public consultation (CER/15/038) on Irish Water’s
proposed method for applying discounts for water
not fit for human consumption to Non-Domestic
Large Water Users (LWUs). In August 2015, the
CER published a Decision Paper (CER/15/182)
on the method for applying discounts for water
not fit for human consumption to LWUs. This
decision applies to all LWUs subject to Boil Water
Notices/Drinking Water Restriction Notices from 1st
October 2014.

47

Energy
Markets

A role of the CER is to regulate and
oversee the sustainable development of
gas and electricity retail market for the
benefit of all electricity customers. In
this regard, the key focus is the effective
monitoring and development of policy
and processes that will provide a high
level of protection to customers and
promote competition in both wholesale
and retail markets for electricity and gas.
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The CER has a number of tasks in this area, including:
• Oversight of the Single Electricity Market and
implementation of the pan-European internal energy
market
• Retail and consumer protection policy development
• Licensing energy suppliers and compliance with licence
and regulatory obligations
• Monitoring of the retail gas and electricity markets
• The implementation of a National Smart Metering
Programme, and
• The accreditation of price comparison web sites.
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Developments in the Energy Market
Competition is continuing to develop in the
electricity and gas markets, and energy customers
have a range of suppliers, payment options and
price plans to choose from. The CER will continue
to monitor the electricity and gas retail markets
throughout 2016 to ensure that competition
continues to develop for the benefit of consumers.

In the gas market the biggest gain in domestic
market share was also seen by Energia with a
1.89% increase in terms of customer numbers,
while SSE had the largest loss with a decrease of
2.40%. Bord Gáis Energy remained the largest
supplier in terms of customers and consumption
and its market share continues to be monitored.

In 2015 there were a total of 8 electricity suppliers
and 6 gas suppliers. Since deregulation of the
electricity and gas markets, 3 new electricity
suppliers and 1 new gas supplier have entered
the electricity and gas retail markets. In electricity,
Electric Ireland remained the largest supplier in
terms of customers and MWhs across all segments.
In 2015 Electric Ireland’s consumption market
share decreased in the domestic sector by 1.61%.
Between Q4 2014 and Q4 2015, Energia showed
the highest gain in domestic electricity consumption
with an increase of 1.22% of market share.

Overall consumption in the electricity sector grew
by 3.9% in 2015. Growth was observed across all
customer classes, with the highest growth rates for
large energy users (LEUs).
There was also growth in the gas market, which
increased by 4% in terms of customer numbers,
and 3% in terms of consumption. Similar to
electricity, there was growth across all customer
classes with the highest growth levels seen in the
Regulated Tariff Formula (RTF) segment, which
represents the largest gas users. The consumption
of this customer class grew by 30%.

Customer Switching
Ireland ranks well globally in terms of switching
rates and is considered a “warm active” market.
The 2015 ACER-CEER Market Monitoring report
showed that Ireland had the second highest
electricity switching rate of 14% out of 28 EU
countries, while for gas it had the highest switching
rate of 18.7%.

Over 300,000 electricity customers switched
supplier in 2015 while the total number of
customers switching gas supplier was 106,862.
Switching rates in both the electricity and gas
markets were consistently above 10% in both
markets for 2015. The CER has also begun to
collect data on the number of customers who
are renegotiating with their suppliers and aims to
publish this data in the second quarter of 2016.

Electricity & Gas Prices
The most significant trend of 2015 was the decline
in wholesale gas prices, which led to declines in
wholesale electricity prices, and to a lesser extent
decreases in retail prices. Gas prices in December
2015 were 21.67% lower than at the beginning of
the year, while the decline in wholesale electricity
prices was approximately 16.97% during the same
period.

The greatest savings continue to be made by
customers who switch from standard to discounted
plans. Prices fell between 2014 and 2015 and
again between 2015 and 2016. In electricity,
standard domestic prices fell between 2% and
4.57%, while in gas they fell between 2% and
5%. Prices decreases were also seen across all
discounted plans.

The price of both standard and discounted plans
decreased between 2015 and 2016. Due to the
way in which retail suppliers hedge their wholesale
purchases, the decline in wholesale prices was
slower to translate into decreases in retail prices.

In 2015, the difference between the highest priced
standard plan and lowest priced discounted plan
was €235 for domestic electricity and €126 for
domestic gas (based on typical consumption of
5,300kWh for electricity and 13,800kWh for gas).
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This means that large savings can be made by
customers who switch from standard to discounted
plans. Across the majority of suppliers, customers
who opted to pay by direct debit and receive
paperless bills were able to avail of the highest
discounts.
In semester 1 of 2015, the average price for the
dominant consumption band for customers in
Ireland declined below the Euro Area average. It
increased in the second half of 2015 but remained
below the Euro Area average.

average in 2015. Prices in this band increased by
2.6% in the first half of 2015 and by 0.12% in the
second half of 2015.
In terms of gas, domestic prices decreased in the
dominant consumption band for gas in the first part
of 2015, and domestic gas prices were below the
Euro Area average. Prices increased in the second
half of 2015 but remained below the EU average.
Business gas prices decreased in both the first half
and second half of 2015 were below both the EU
and Euro area average for all of 2015.

Business electricity prices for the dominant
consumption band were above the Euro Area

Customer Protection, Debt & Disconnections
The number of PAYG meters installed for customers
experiencing financial hardship in 2015 declined
compared to 2014 for both electricity and gas.
This reduction was in line with a reduction in
the number of disconnections. The number of
customers indicating a desire to switch suppliers
with outstanding debt above a €220 increased for

electricity between 2014 and 2015 and reduced in
gas for the same time period.
Disconnections of customers for non-payment
of account (NPA) declined significantly in 2015
compared to 2014; by 11% in electricity and 12%
in gas. The total number of disconnections between
Q1 2015 and Q4 2015 was 7,783 for electricity and
3,542 for gas.

Oversight of Single Electricity Market
During 2015, the CER continued to oversee
regulation of the existing wholesale energy market,
the Single Electricity Market through its role as a
member of the SEM Committee. Significant SEM
Committee decisions in 2015 included:
• A Decision to approve a modification to the
Trading and Settlement Code relating to make
whole payments for interconnector users that
protected consumers from excessive payments
but ensured efficient intra-day cross border
trade.

• An update of the Best New Entrant value for
the Capacity Payment Mechanism for 201517 which resulted in a reduction of some €60
million in capacity charges to consumers for
2016 compared to 2015. This will be observed in
the 2016 wholesale electricity prices.
• A revision to the definition of generation
availability under the grid code to improve the
efficiency of TSO and generation outage planning

Directed Contract (DC) Determination
As part of the SEM market power mitigation
strategy, ESB Power Generation is required to
offer Directed Contracts products for sale to
eligible electricity suppliers, on a quarterly basis.
The prices for these contracts are set by the

50

Regulatory Authorities (i.e. CER & UREGNI), as
well as the quantity of DCs to be offered by ESB
Power Generation. During 2015, the prices of these
contracts declined in line with the decline in the
wholesale price for electricity.

During 2015 the CER continued working with
the Utility Regulator (UR) Northern Ireland,
Government Departments and stakeholders to
implement the High Level Design, developed in
2014, for the Integrated Single Electricity Market
in order to meet the requirements of the EU Target
Model for electricity by 2017.
The CER and UR, the Regulatory Authorities (RAs),
produced a number of significant consultations and
decisions on key detailed policy issues regarding
the I-SEM in 2015 and continued to work with
the TSOs to ensure that the project is progressing
to schedule and that key stakeholders were
afforded the opportunity to engage regarding the
programme.
The RAs developed a high level joint plan with the
TSOs to facilitate the joint monitoring of the project
progress and issued regular quarterly updates
throughout 2015 to ensure that the I-SEM Design
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I-SEM Detailed Design and Implementation
and Implementation is in line with the project time
plan and remains on track for go-live in Q4 2017.
Key policy decisions in 2015 included:
• A Decision on the elements energy market in
September 2015
• A Decision on key design features of the new
Capacity Remuneration Mechanism (CRM) and
a further detailed consultation in December 2015
• A Consultation Paper on I-SEM Market Power
policy in November 2015
• A Decision paper on the policy for cross-border
trading in the form of Financial Transmission
Rights (FTRs) in December, 2015
• A Decision on I-SEM Roles and Responsibilities
in October 2015, and a designation of Eirgrid as
the National Electricity Market Operator (NEMO)
for Ireland.

ACER-CEER
The development of the European internal
energy market continues and the CER is actively
participating in this policy development with other
European regulators. The CER is a member of
various working groups and task forces established
by the Council of Energy Regulators (CEER) and
Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators
(ACER), covering gas and electricity wholesale and
retail markets.
In 2015, the CER contributed to the CEERACER market monitoring reports, covering a
range of information on the national indicators
on the developments in the wholesale and retail
markets. The aim of the report is to provide a
comprehensive assessment on progress towards
the implementation of the Third Energy Legislative
Package, the completion of the internal energy
market (IEM) and the development in the
functioning of retail markets.

The key area covered in the retail section include:
the functioning of retail markets, energy prices,
consumer protection and experience.
The CER also actively contributed to a number of
ACER working groups and task forces including
the Electricity Working Group that covering market
and network issues and the Electricity Security of
Supply Task Force where we inputted into ACER
positions on capacity mechanisms and cross border
participation and the a number of task forces
responsible for pan European regulatory oversight of
implementing the electricity target model. The CER
is co-chair of the CEER working group looking at the
future of distribution systems with associated task
forces looking at cyber security, smart grids and
networks benchmarking.

Renewables Support and Public
Service Obligation
The Public Service Obligation (PSO) levy is an
annual levy charged to all electricity customers in
Ireland, with the objective of supporting the Irish
Government policy objectives relating to renewable
energy, indigenous fuels and security of energy
supply. In accordance with Section 39 of the

Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (as amended),
the CER is responsible for the calculation and
administration of the PSO levy on an annual basis.
Consequently, in June 2015, the CER issued a
proposed decision paper for public consultation on
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the PSO Levy 2015/16 and a final decision on 1st
of August, (CER/15/142), which set the PSO levy
at €325.3 million. The resulting PSO levy charges
applies for the PSO period from the 1st October
2015 to the 30th September 2016.
The CER provided input into the development of
the DCENR’s thinking on changes required to the

existing Renewable Energy Feed In Tariff (REFIT)
mechanism to facilitate the implementation of the
I-SEM and the electricity target model, notably
regarding the REFIT benchmark reference price
and market issues related to the development of
new support mechanisms.

REMIT & MMU Market Monitoring Liaison
REMIT, the Regulation on Energy Market Integrity
and Transparency, entered EU law on 28th
December 2011 and provides for an EU-wide
market rules and monitoring framework related to
wholesale energy markets in electricity and gas.
As part of the REMIT implementing Acts, market
participants are required to register with the relevant
National Regulatory Authority, including the CER,
who provide this to the Agency for the Cooperation
of Energy Regulators (ACER).

In February 2015, the CER worked with market
participants to ensure that they complied with the
REMIT regulations. Almost 100 participants had
registered with CER by the end of the year. The
reporting to ACER for reportable wholesale energy
supply and derivatives contracts executed at
organised marketplaces commenced on the 7th
October 2015.

Monitoring Retail Electricity and Gas Markets
Increased competition and deregulation in retail
markets requires a more comprehensive framework
to monitor the state of competition to assess if
consumers are benefiting from it. EU legislation, on
European electricity and gas markets, also known
as the Third Package, placed a renewed emphasis
on customer protection. National regulators
(including the CER) are required to monitor retail
markets across a range of indicators, to take action
where necessary, to prevent distortion or restriction
of competition in the supply of electricity and gas to
final customers, and to ensure that final customers
are benefiting from competition in the supply of
electricity.
The CER has a detailed market monitoring
framework which applies to networks and
suppliers with de minimise thresholds of 1% of
consumption or 4 customers in electricity and 1%
of customers in gas. CER reports on a wide range
of metrics, including market share, switching rates,
disconnections and prices. This information is
regularly published by the CER and also contained
in the CER Annual Retail Markets Annual Report.

In 2015 the CER began to implement an
enhanced market monitoring framework with aim
of introducing a range of new market indicators to
be collected from suppliers and network operators.
These indicators provide an enhanced level of
oversight of how the market is operating and
facilitates the CER to take any necessary action
in the interests of customers. The first reporting
of these market indicators takes place in 2016.
The new insights afforded by this data will provide
valuable input to policy development or actions
required in the retail market. Examples of new
analysis that CER intend to conduct include
information on customers who renegotiate their
contracts with suppliers, customers defaulting to
standard plans, dual fuel customer switches, the
number of customers on standard and discounted
plans and the range of discounts they avail of and
information on the types of contracts available in the
electricity and gas markets.

Annual Consumer Survey
Each year the CER conducts a survey of the
retail and SME electricity and gas markets in
the Republic of Ireland to measure customer
experiences and attitudes and to help inform policy
in the area of customer protection. This research
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has been ongoing since 2011 and in 2015 was
based on a statistically robust sample of domestic
customers who use gas or electricity and with low
to medium consumption non-domestic customers.

The survey allowed for an indicative measure of
consumers’ awareness of the options available
in the markets and their ability to switch provider,
along with consumer’s understanding of their tariffs
and supplier communications. It is evident from

the results of the consumer survey that a number
of factors influence customer’s perceptions of and
engagement in the market.
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Progress and Outcomes

This was the sixth year the CER undertook a
consumer survey and it continues to provide
valuable insights to the CER and helps form
consumer protection policy.

An overview of the findings of the survey were:

Domestic customer engagement, awareness and switching
• 86% of domestic electricity
• Switching rates among those
customers and 88% of gas
surveyed were 12% for electricity
customers were satisfied with their
and 16% for gas. The rate of
current supplier in 2015.
switching amongst dual fuel
customers is 22%.
• In terms of customer’s
awareness of competition, 92%
• Trust and satisfaction with
of respondent spontaneously
service were the top reasons not
mentioned Electric Ireland.
to switch. Amongst those who
have never switched and did not
• Mention of BGE and SSE Airtricity
consider switching, satisfaction
increased following a decline in
with their current provider
2014.
was their main reason for not
• For gas, Bord Gáis Energy had the
switching.
highest level of awareness among
• Those who did not switch
those surveyed of 96%.
indicated that they did not
believe that they would save
a significant amount if they
switched. Knowledge of pricing
structures remains low across all
four markets and represents a
potential barrier to the effective
evaluation of competitor’s offers.

• Awareness of the offers currently
on the market was low across
both the electricity and gas
domestic markets, with about
half of respondents claiming not
to be aware of any offers such as
unit price discounts for fixed term
contracts, percentage reductions,
and loyalty scheme benefits.
•

Customers of Prepaypower show
the greatest awareness of offers,
while customers of Electric Ireland
have the lowest awareness.

• In the gas market, Flogas
customers show the greatest
awareness of offers, while current
customers of Bord Gais Energy
and are less likely to be aware of
what offers are currently on the
market.

Non-Domestic customer engagement, awareness and switching
• 73% of SME electricity
customers and 75%
of gas customers were
satisfied with their
current supplier in
2015.

• A total of 35% of
• 91% of SME electricity
• SME respondents
electricity customers
customers who switched
indicated that the
and 42% of gas
during the previous
motivation for switching
customers indicated
twelve months stated
was overwhelmingly
that they were not aware
that the switching
driven by financial
of any offers other than
process was easy or very
imperatives, with 9 in
their current one.
easy (2014: 88%, 2013:
10 electricity and 100%
• Electric Ireland had the
85%).
of gas switchers citing
top level of awareness
• The level of switching
saving money on the bill
for the electricity market,
amongst respondents
• 86% of SME gas
as the primary reason
while Bord Gáis Energy
was 30% in the SME
customers who switched
for switching supplier.
received the highest
electricity market and
during the previous
unprompted mention
23% in the IC gas
twelve months stated
amongst gas suppliers.
market.
that the switching
process was easy or very
easy (2014: 95%, 2013:
78%).
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Supplier Compliance
Develop compliance and enforcement
framework
The CER has a statutory mandate underpinned
by primary and secondary legislation to protect
the interests of energy customers and promote
competition in retail markets4.
The CER has implemented specific customer
protection measures through the development of
requirements and guidelines for energy suppliers
and network companies, reflected in Standard
Terms and Conditions of Supply, Codes of Practice
and Customer Charters, the Supplier’s Handbook,
gas and electricity supply licences and market
monitoring and market design rules.
The CER monitors compliance with requirements
placed on suppliers using regular and ad-hoc
audits, complaints investigations, continuous
engagement with network companies, customer
satisfaction surveys, assessment of energy
suppliers’ compliance statements and assessment
of suppliers’ submissions under reporting
requirements.
The CER review of the compliance and
enforcement framework in 2015 identified areas
where further work is required to ensure that
the customer protection is enduring in the face
of new market entries, the introduction of new
energy deals, different marketing and advertising
strategies and different business models. These
areas and work conducted to date are summarised
below:
i.

Review of the Supplier’s Handbook
The Supplier ’s Handbook sets out
minimum service requirements that
suppliers must adhere to in their dealings
with energy customers. It comprises
individual Codes of Practice which cover
all key areas of customer – supplier
interaction, such as marketing and sign

up process, billing, disconnection, PAYG
meters and vulnerable customers. These
rules are in place to ensure that customers
enjoy a high standard of protection when
interacting with energy suppliers.
The first stage in the consultative process
has been completed, with the publication
of the Consultation Paper Review of the
Supplier’s Handbook (CER/16/031A).
The review process is ongoing, with the
Proposed Decision Paper expected to be
published in Q3 2016.
ii. Review of scope of compliance audits
The scope of compliance audits is reviewed
regularly to ensure that it covers key areas
of customer – supplier interaction, such
as marketing, process for customer sign
up, billing, disconnections, and vulnerable
customers. As part of its compliance
monitoring activities, the CER conducts
annual audits of compliance with specific
requirements set out in individual Codes
of Practice. The last audit, conducted in
2015, examined suppliers’ compliance
with the Code of Practice for Vulnerable
Customers. The findings of this audit
are set out in the Information Note CER
16/097. The next compliance audit will be
conducted in Q4 2016.
iii. Market design rules
The CER organises and chairs regular
industry meetings on an ongoing basis
to review policy and operational issues
relevant to the well-functioning of the retail
markets, such as the Industry Governance
Group (IGG) for the retail electricity market
and the Gas Market Arrangements Group
(GMARG) for the gas retail market.

Retail Policy
PAYG Lifestyle Choice Customer Facing
Arrangements
In early 2015, the CER conducted a workshop on
specific customer facing arrangements pertaining
to the PAYG lifestyle choice area, which identified
gaps in relation to consistency across suppliers for

certain key processes in the PAYG lifestyle choice
area, such as supplier switching process, removal
and installation of the PAYG meter and charges
associated with PAYG meters and customer
retention practices.

4 The key pieces of legislation include: Electricity Regulation Act 1999, Gas (Interim) (Regulation) Act 2002, S.I. No 452/2004, S.I.
No 60/2005, S.I. No 463 / 2011, S.I. 630/2011.
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Deemed Contracts

In 2014, the CER consulted on whether the debt
transfer should apply to customers switching to a
lifestyle choice PAYG service and/or credit services
(CER/14/199). Debt transfer is where an indebted
customer switching supplier would remain
responsible for repaying their outstanding debt via
their new supplier.

The Energy Miscellaneous Provisions Act
2012 establishes the legislative framework for
the regulation of deemed contracts in gas and
electricity retail markets and gives the CER the
power to make regulatory provisions in respect of
such contracts.

Decision Paper CER/16/014, published in 2016,
sets out the CER’s decisions in respect of debt
transfer and debt flagging processes.
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Consumer Debt Management

Decision Paper CER/17/779, published in 2014,
sets out the CER’s regulations in respect of
deemed contracts, which were subsequently
reflected in secondary legislation, S.I. 603/2015.

Renewables
Fuel Mix and Guarantees of Origin
Under Regulation 25 of S.I. No. 60 of 2005, the
CER is required to ensure that all suppliers provide
reliable information on bills and promotional

materials in relation to their fuel mix. On 7th August
2015 the fuel mix for suppliers licensed in Ireland
and operating in the Single Electricity Market
(SEM) for the year 2014 were published5.

Suppliers’ Fuel Mix in 2014
The fuel mix for 2014 was published in August 2015 and is shown in the below table.
Table 5: Supplier fuel mix 2014
Supplier

Coal

Gas

Peat

Oil

Renewable

Other

All-island

15.7 %

41.7 %

6.9 %

1.1 %

34.5 %

0.2 %

Airtricity (Ireland)

14.8 %

14.9 %

6.5 %

3.1 %

60.6 %

0.2 %

Airtricity (All-Island)

17.9 %

18 %

7.9 %

2.5 %

53.5 %

0.2 %

Bord Gáis (Ireland)

12.0 %

67.2 %

5.3 %

0.5 %

14.9 %

0.1 %

Bord Gáis (All-Island)

12.5 %

66.5 %

5.5 %

0.6 %

14.8 %

0.1 %

Electric Ireland (Ireland)

17.7 %

53.5 %

7.8 %

0.8 %

19.9 %

0.2 %

Electric Ireland (All-Island)

16.2 %

56.3 %

7.2 %

0.7 %

19.4 %

0.2 %

Energia (Ireland)

0.0 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

100.0 %

0.0 %

Energia (All-Island)

0.0 %

19.2 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

80.8 %

0.0 %

Vayu (Ireland)

1.5 %

3.1 %

0.7 %

0.1 %

94.6 %

0.0 %

Vayu (All-Island)

1.6 %

3.3 %

0.7 %

0.1 %

94.3 %

0.0 %

In 2015 the CER also published a decision paper
(CER/15/205) introducing a verification process for
green source products. Green source products are
products that are sold to customers on the basis
that they are sourced from renewable sources.
The verification process is to be administered by

SEMO. Suppliers will be required to change their
bills to ensure that customers are aware of this
new process. The 2015 fuel mix (to be published
in 2016) will be the first fuel mix to use this online
registry.

5 The methodology used for this calculation is detailed in the following document: SEM Committee Decision Paper Fuel Mix Disclosure
in the Single Electricity Market: Calculation Methodology Decision Paper (SEM-11-095).
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Smart Metering
The CER, working closely with the Department of
Communications Energy and Natural Resources,
established the National Smart Metering
Programme (NSMP) in 2007. The NSMP is a
programme of strategic national importance
which will underpin Irish energy policy through
the realisation of the five strategic objectives of the
programme, namely to:

The aim of the NSMP is a national rollout of
smart meters to all residential consumers and
the vast majority of small-to-medium enterprise
(SMEs). This programme is in line with the target
in European legislation which requires that 80%
of residential electricity smart meters have been
installed by the end of 2020, subject to a positive
Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA).

• Encourage Energy Efficiency

The CER is taking a consumer centric approach to
the NSMP and the rollout of smart meters with a
key focus on the development of consumer policy
and services in the areas of Time of Use Tariffs
(ToU), pay as you go (PAYG) services, Customer
Protection and Information. The programme will
also take account of the particular requirements
of different customer groups including vulnerable
customers and those in financial hardship.

• Facilitate Peak Load Management
• Support Renewable and Micro Generation
• Enhance Competition and Improve Consumer
Experience, and
• Improve Network Services.

The NSMP comprises 5 phases as set out below:
2008

2013
Phase 1
Trials and
CBAs

2015
Phase 2
High Level
Design

2018

Phase 3
Detailed
Design &
Procurement

Phase 4
Build
&
Test

2020
Phase 5
Deployment

The following details work completed by the CER’s smart metering team during 2015:

Regulatory Policy Implementation Roadmap
In March 2015, the CER published an Information
Paper titled Policy Implementation Roadmap
(CER/15/055). The paper set out a plan (“roadmap”)
of how the regulatory frameworks for electricity
and gas markets will change over time to allow for
the establishment and operation of a new retail
market design underpinned by smart metering.
The roadmap progresses in a number of stages, or
“gates” and examines the roles and responsibilities
of different market participants in implementing
the NSMP and operating in the new retail market
design that it establishes. It assesses the existing
regulatory framework’s ability to support the roles
and responsibilities effectivity and efficiently.
Subsequently, the CER issued a consultation
(CER/15/135) looking at a range of new consumer
policy and related activities as follows:
• Rolling Out New Services – Time of Use Tariffs
and Smart PAYG – outlining the approach to
the transition to Time-of-Use Tariffs and Smart
Pay As You Go In developing the approach to
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the rollout of ToU, the CER has ensured that it
is based on customer choice and readiness,
rather than a ‘one-size fits all’ approach.
• The paper outlines decisions on how customers
can migrate to ToU tariffs. Smart Pay As You
Go (PAYG) is being developed as the standard
model for prepayment when smart meters rollout providing greater flexibility for the consumer
by making the switching process simpler and
also facilitating a seamless transition between
credit and PAYG. This paper outlines decisions
on a series of PAYG elements including
balance calculation, moving from monetary
to time based credit, notification messages,
disconnection and reconnection processes.
• Empowering and Protecting Consumers The
consultation paper focused on customer
information and protection. It sought views on;
>> How to ensure customers have ready access
to the information they need;
>> How the framework of customer protection
might need to be updated to reflect changes
to how retail markets will operate;

• Regulating the Transition of Activities for
Market Participants – outlining a combination
of obligations and incentives to promote a
rollout of meters and support infrastructure that
maximises the potential benefits of the NSMP
for consumers and the market.
• Information Paper on Data Access & Privacy
In 2015 the CER commenced a programme of
work on the approach to consumer engagement
for the smart metering programme. For the
smart metering programme to be successful it
is essential that consumers are informed and
empowered to engage with the changes that will
take place in electricity and gas markets, and the
new services which they can avail of. This piece of
work is to continue with a strategy and roadmap
for effective consumer engagement set to be
defined in 2016.

Empowering and Protecting Consumers
In July to September 2015, the CER carried out
a consultation on Empowering and Protecting
Consumers (CER/15/137). The rollout of smart
meters will provide a significant level of information
that is currently unavailable to the energy
consumer. With access to more accurate data on
consumption and prices, consumers will have a
rich source of information with which to compare
tariffs, modify consumption patterns or provide a
third party switching service, etc.

NSMP Programme Management
In December 2015, the CER issued the updated
NSMP Programme Initiation Document (PrID).
This updated the previous NSMP PrID to reflect
the high level plan approved in May 2015. It
was circulated to stakeholders for review and
comments.
The NSMP PrID defines the NSMP, outlining the
programme scope, structure, governance, roles

and responsibilities. It ensures there is a shared
understanding between all stakeholders and the
CER. The PrID will act as a high level programme
document for industry stakeholders to develop
their own internal smart metering programmes.

C O M M I S S I O N F O R E N E R G Y R E G U L AT I O N / / A N N U A L R E P O RT 2 0 1 5   E n e r g y M a r k e t s

>> How best to accommodate customers who
are unable or unwilling to participate.

The PrID defines how the CER will carry out its
NSMP Programme Management responsibilities.
The NSMP PrID sets two broad areas of
responsibility for the CER under the NSMP:
• Programme Management/Owner, and
• Smart Metering Regulatory Policy
Each organisation that is leading a work stream
produces and distributes a work stream ‘Project
Initiation Document’ (PID). In October 2015, the
CER issued an updated CER Work stream PID
(version 2.0) in relation to all aspects of Smart
Metering Regulatory Policy. The Consumer
Engagement work stream under the PrID (which
the CER is also leading) will be subject to its own
PID (the ‘NSMP Consumer Engagement PID’).
This is due to be issued in 2016.

Information Security
The CER commenced an Information Security
work stream under phase 3 of the NSMP and is
reaffirming the need for end to end security to
be considered and prioritised in the design and
procurement of the NSMP. Security by design was
“hard-wired” as a core aspect of the High Level
Design; Section 2.7 of CER/14/046 stated; “CER
will work with ESBN, BGN and other industry
stakeholders to ensure security is fully integrated
into the smart metering solution”.
There are three stages to the initial information
security scope of work:
1. End-to-end Risk Assessment
2. Risk Treatment Plan
3. Framework for Ongoing Monitoring &
Compliance
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Key
Performance
Indicators
The Government Statement on
Economic Regulation, published by the
Department of the Taoiseach in October
2009, aimed at strengthening the
process of assessing the performance of
regulators across key economic sectors.
This included a requirement that the
performance of regulators be measured
annually against clear indicators, and
reported on in the Annual Report.
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In line with this, the CER has agreed “Key Performance
Indicators” (KPIs) for 2015 with the Department of
Communications, Energy and Natural Resources, which
were published in the CER 2015 Work Programme. The
outcomes against these KPIs are shown below.
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SAFETY
Objective

Delivery

KPI

Reporting in the separate Annual Safety
Report for the Energy Minister positive
trends against published KPIs in GSF (Gas
Safety Framework), PSF (Petroleum Safety
Framework), SSB (Safety Supervisory Bodies)

Q4 2015

This was submitted to the Minister and
subsequently published on the CER website in
December 2015.

On schedule Petroleum safety permit decisions

Q4 2015

Three safety permits issued, all on schedule.
• Safety permit SP10 issued March 11th
• Safety permit SP01B issued June 11th
• Safety Permit SP11 issued July 14th

On schedule decisions on safety cases

Q4 2015

All accepted safety cases were reviewed and
accepted within the anticipated timelines.

On schedule audits/inspections of
undertakings in line with 2015 plan

Q4 2015

Gas Safety Framework – All planned audits/
inspections were completed, however, two
could not be facilitated by the undertaking.
Petroleum Safety Framework – Two audits/
inspections of the production activity under
SP01 undertaken:
•
•
•
•

Announced inspection August
Unannounced inspection December
Inspection of well work activities
Offshore inspection of the SP10 well work
activity July
• Offshore inspection of the SP11 well work
activity July
Designated bodies in place regulating electrical
contractors and gas installers

Q3/Q4 2015

Following a public procurement process, Gas
Safety Supervisory Body appointed in August
2015 and Electrical Safety Supervisory Body
was appointed in November 2015.

Reduction in non-conformances by SSBs and
undertakings.

Q4 2015

All identified non-conformances have
been apportioned to the relevant SSBs and
undertakings for completion and are being
monitored by the CER.

QMS – Internal audits undertaken / annual
management meeting undertaken

Q3 2015

Annual Management Review and Planning
meeting was held in November 2015.

Positive trends recorded in annual survey of
awareness amongst the general public of key
safety messages

Q4 2015

Customer surveys show an increase in the
awareness of the Safe Electric brand and the
requirement to use a Registered Electrical
Contractor (REC) for major electrical work sin
the home.
Customer surveys show a continued awareness
of the RGII brand and the requirement to use
a Registered Gas Installer (RGII) to carry out
domestic gas works.

CER shall investigate all reports of illegal
activity relevant to its regulation of gas installers
and electrical contractors

Q4 2015

CER received 56 reports of alleged illegal
activity relevant to electrical contractors.
The CER received 53 reports of alleged gas
safety offences by unregistered individuals.
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WATER
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Objective

Delivery

KPI

Publish a decision and revised, modified water
charges plan in the context of Government
decisions of November 2014 as soon as all
relevant information is available.

Q3 2015

Decision Paper and revised Water Charges
Plan were published in March 2015.

Establish a monitoring regime regarding Irish
Water’s delivery of its capital investment plan
and associated expenditure for the interim
revenue review period to 2016.

Q4 2015

This deliverable was not advanced to
planned timetable but is being progressed
during 2016.

Establish Irish Water revenue review project,
publish an information note and issue
questionnaires to Irish Water to planned
timelines.

Q4 2015

This project was initiated in May 2015 with
the publication of a Discussion Paper.

Establish a monitoring regime for matters
included in Irish Water’s Customer Handbook
(with publications as appropriate).

Q4 2015

A programme of reviewing Irish Water’s
progress towards implementation of the
obligations in the Customer Handbook was
undertaken in 2015. Irish Water has made
good progress with more than 90% of the
obligations implemented in 2016. A plan is
in place to further improve compliance.

Publish Work Plan and Consultation Process for
Connection Charging Policy for domestic and
non-domestic customers.

Q4 2015

This deliverable was not advanced to
planned timetable but is being progressed
during 2016.

Publish Work Plan and Consultation Process for
Non-Domestic Tariff Framework.

Q4 2015

This deliverable was not advanced as
planned.

Establish and hold Large Water User Group
meetings.

Q3 2015

Informal meetings held with representatives
during 2015 to determine terms of
reference for proposed group membership.

Establish and support a Public Water Forum.

Q4 2015

Following a recruitment process in October
2015 The Public Water Forum was
established with CER acting as secretariat.

Consult and decide upon the method of
applying tariff discounts for water not fit for
human consumption to non-domestic Large
Water Users.

Q3 2015

Consultation Paper was published in March
2015.

Business Planning Questionnaires were
circulated to Irish Water in mid-2015.
Project remains on track for 2016.

Decision Paper was published in August
2015.
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ENERGY NETWORKS
Objective

Delivery

KPI

Publish Gas tariff reform decision by June
2015 and implementation by October 2015
– published in July 2015

Q2 2015

New Gas tariff reform decision published in
July 2015.

Issue Gas Security of Supply report to EC
July 2015 and Network Development Plan
by end September 2015

Q3 2015

Network Development Plan published in
October 2015.

Issue 2015/16 Transmission and
Distribution Tariffs by August 2015

Q3 2015

Transmission and Distribution Tariffs
published August 2015.

Implementation of EU CAM and balancing
network codes by November 2015

Q4 2015

EU CAM and Balancing Network codes
implementedQ4 2015.

Certification and licencing of Bord Gáis
Networks as unbundled TSO by Dec 2015

Q4 2015

Published March 2016.

Security of Supply Policy Decision Paper by
September 2015

Q3 2015

Review of Fuel Stock Obligations for
Electricity Generators Consultation paper
was published in August 2015.

Decision on Electricity Networks PR4
revenue review

Q3 2015

Decision published in December 2015

Implementation of new DUoS and TUoS
tariff rates by October 2015

Q4 2015

New Tarff rated implemented.

RoCoF Generator Studies work plan
finalised

Q1 2015

Plan finalised and published.

DS3 System Services Implementation
Project PID by February 2015

Q1 2015

Project PID completed.

4 quarterly capex monitoring reports

Q4 2015

Monitoring reports completed and
published in 2016.

Decision on Outturn Availability by August
2015

Q3 2015

SEMC decision paper published in
September 2015

Decision on harmonised ancillary services
(HAS) and OSC by July 2015

Q3 2015

SEMC decision paper published in June
2015

Decision on TLAFs and GTUOS by July
2015

Q3 2015

SEMC decision paper published in July
2015
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ENERGY MARKETS
Objective
Competition in electricity and gas
markets:

Delivery
Q4 2015

1.1. Ensure no decline in the switching
rate of customers in the retail electricity
and gas markets.
1.2. Update Supplier Handbook as
appropriate to facilitate the benefits of
competition going to customers and
facilitate active switching.

1.2 A full review of the Supplier Handbook has taken
place and it is currently being consulted on with all
stakeholders in the electricity and gas retail markets.
A proposed decision paper on the revised Supplier
Handbook is due to be issued in Q3 of 2016, with a
number of enhancements for consumer protection.

1.3. Achieve an increase in the
percentage of customers on discounted
tariffs for each supplier.

Support DCENR in Comitology process
for all network codes/guidelines for
Target Model.

Q3 2015

Support active, unregulated competition
in retail markets through licence
compliance and audit activities:

Q4 2015

1.1 Complete audit of all licenced
suppliers

1.3 Under a new framework of monitoring for the CER,
from Q2 2015 figures for the number of customers on
standard and discounted tariffs have been calculated
and the CER will begin to publish this information in its
quarterly reports along with information on the range of
offers available in order to provide customers with more
information on the options available to them.
CER fully engaged in supporting DCENR with
assessing Network Code/Guidelines developments,
attending all meetings in the Comitology process. The
Interoperability Network Code was in place on 1st
October 2015 as required. In addition, during 2015 the
CER provided regulatory support to the Department in
relation to the comitology phase of the Interoperability
Network Code.
Regular and ad-hoc audits to ensure that suppliers
adhere to the requirements outlined in the Supplier’s
Handbook. In 2015 the CER conducted an audit of
compliance with the Code of Practice on Vulnerable
Customers.
During or as a result of the audit where breaches of the
Code of Practice on Vulnerable Customers were found,
the CER engaged with particular suppliers to remedy the
breaches. A number of regulatory gaps in the current
protection framework for vulnerable customers were
identified and have been included in the Consultation
Paper Review of the Supplier’s Handbook.

1.2 Complete audit of two price
comparison websites
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KPI
1.1 Switching rates in both gas and electricity have
remained above 11% on both gas and electricity from
2009. In 2015 the switching rate in electricity was
13.53% and in gas was 16%. This compares to a
switching rate of 14% in electricity in 2014 and of 17%
in gas.

Issue appropriate DC volumes, prices
and eligibilities quarterly to plan.

Q3 2015

Issue appropriate PSO levy 2015/16
decision to plan.

Q3 2015

Publish I-SEM consultation and
decision papers across various I-SEM
work stream, as listed in the I-SEM
Project Plan published 10th October,
2014

Q3 2015

Annual independent audit of accredited price
comparison websites was completed towards the end
of 2015. No major infringements were found for both
accredited websites, and instances of minor noncompliance were addressed.
The DC volumes, prices and eligibilities were issued in
accordance with the subscription process and timelines
as set out in SEM-15-015, with the exception of Round
15, which was delayed by 1 week, and products for Q1
2017 were postponed until Round 16.
On the 30th of July 2015, the CER issued a decision
paper (CER/15/142), which set the 2015/16 PSO levy at
€325.3 million.
All consultations and decision outlines in the project
plan in 2014 were completed and published.
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SMART METERING
Objective

Delivery

KPI

Completion of first round of detailed design
policy consultations by Q3 2015.

Q3 2015

Policy Implementation Roadmap Information
Paper was published in March 2015.
Consultations published before Q3 2015:
• Regulating the Transition Activities of Market
Participants
• Rolling out New Services
• Time-of-Use Tariffs
• Smart Pay As You Go
• Empowering and Protecting Consumers
Decision papers published before Q4 2015:
• Time-of-Use Tariff
• Rolling out New Services
• Smart Pay-As-You-Go

Meet EU target for replacing at least 80% of a
residential electricity meters with smart meters
by 2020. Target implementation of the majority
of gas smart meters by 2020.

Q4 2015

The costs of the NSMP are minimised and
the benefits are maximised. A detailed CBA
will be undertaken in Q3 2016 with costs
taken from the procurement processes for the
communications and meter infrastructure.

All consumer policy decisions were published
to the agreed timeline (due to be complete by
Q1 2016). The sequence of DSO procurements
due to be completed in 2016.
Internal CER NSMP CBA work stream was
established in Q4 2015. Tender for consultant
support on this work stream was issued Q4
2015.

CUSTOMER CARE
Objective

Delivery

KPI

To continue to provide a high quality, efficient
complaints resolution service for domestic and
small business customers through the CER’s
Customer Care Team

Q4 2015

Number of complex customer complaints
opened by the Customer Care Team each year
from 2009 to 2014:

To monitor customer usage and awareness of
the services provided by the Customer Care
Team

Q4 2015

2009: 276
2010: 239
2011: 502
2012: 508
2013: 651
2014: 435
2015: 359
Below is the number of contacts received by
the Customer Care team each year from 2009
to 2015:
2009: 1927
2010: 1930
2011: 2860
2012: 3067
2013: 5567
2014: 5554
2015: 3884

Customer Service: 80% or higher of “noncomplex” customer complaints resolved by the
CER within 10 working days.

Q4 2015

94% of non-complex complaints resolved
within 10 working days
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Report of the Commission
for the year ended 31 December 2015
I have pleasure in presenting the audited financial statements of the Commission for Energy Regulation
(CER) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Financial Year
The accounting period consists of twelve months to 31 December 2015.

Principal Activities
The European Electricity Directive was
implemented by Ireland with the passing of the
Electricity Regulation Act, 1999, which established
the Commission for Electricity Regulation (CER)
on 14 July 1999. This legislation and the signing
of Statutory Instrument 445 of 2000 sets out the
powers and duties of the CER and provides the
framework for the introduction of competition
in the generation and supply of electricity in
Ireland. The Gas (Interim) (Regulation) Act 2002
established the CER as the Irish natural gas
regulator under the name of the Commission for
Energy Regulation. It gave the CER the necessary
powers to license and regulate the transmission,
distribution, storage and supply of natural
gas and issue orders in relation to the supply,
transmission, distribution and sale of gas. The
Energy (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2006 sets
out the powers and duties with respect to public
safety involving the regulation of transmission,
distribution, storage, supply and shipping
of natural gas; and the safety supervision of
Registered Gas Installers and Registered Electrical
Contractors. The Electricity Regulation Act (1999)
has been amended by the Petroleum (Exploration
and Extraction) Safety Act 2010 (the Safety Act)
which sets out the powers and duties of the CER
in this regard.
The Water Services Act 2013 provides the CER
with a function to undertake all things necessary or
expedient to prepare for the performance of water
regulatory functions and to advise the Minister
on the development of policy regarding the
regulation of the provision of water services. The
Water Services (No.2) Act 2013, grants the CER
regulatory powers over the public water and waste
water sector, in particular to regulate from an
economic and customer service perspective the
activities of the water utility. Our overall aims are
to protect the interests of water customers, ensure
water services are delivered in a safe, secure and
sustainable manner and that Irish Water operates
in an economic and efficient manner. The Water
Services Act 2014 established an independent
consumer consultative forum, to be known as the
Public Water Forum. Regulations under Section

7 of the Water Services Act 2014 set out the
composition and the conditions of membership of
the Public Water Forum.
The CER, working closely with the Department of
Communications, Energy and Natural Resources
(DCENR), established the National Smart Metering
Programme (NSMP) in late 2007. In Phase 1, a
trial was carried out in order to assess the costs
and benefits of smart meters and to inform
decisions relating to the full rollout. In July 2012
a decision was announced to rollout electricity and
gas smart meters for all residential and small and
medium sized businesses. Phase 2 commenced
in January 2013 and is broadly composed of a
high level design and procurement phase. Since
the middle of 2013 CER have been engaging with
industry and consulting with the public on the
smart metering High Level Design. A decision on
the High Level Design was published in October
2014. The High Level Design outlines the CER’s
decision on its design for the future electricity
and gas markets when smart meters have been
installed.
The Commission is funded by levy, safety case
fees and licence income received from the relevant
electricity, gas, water, and petroleum safety industry
participants. The CER secured a short term
commercial loan facility to fund petroleum safety
activities, as consented to by Ministerial approval,
with respect to Establishment Costs of the High
Level Design of the Petroleum Safety Framework,
which was fully re-paid in 2015. The Petroleum
Safety Framework is funded in two ways: an annual
industry levy and safety case assessment fees.
The safety case fees cover the costs associated
with assessment of a safety case. The petroleum
undertaking that submits the safety case for
assessment is liable for the associated safety
case fee. As the CER will not know the final safety
case fee until the assessment is completed, the
petroleum undertaking will submit an initial safety
case fee with its safety case submission. Once the
final fee is determined, the CER will reimburse
the petroleum undertaking where the final fee is
lower than the initial fee paid, or bill the petroleum
undertaking for the additional costs where the final
costs is higher than the initial fee.
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Results
Details of the financial results of the Commission
for the year are set out in the Financial Statements
and in the related notes.

Auditors and Accounts
Paragraph 25 of the Schedule to the Electricity
Regulation Act, 1999 as amended requires the
Commission to prepare financial statements in
such form as may be approved by the Minister for
Communications, Energy and Natural Resources
with the concurrence of the Minister for Public
Expenditure and Reform. The Commission
submits accounts in respect of each year to the
Comptroller and Auditor General. As soon as
may be subsequent to the audit the Commission
is required to present to the Minister for
Communications, Energy and Natural Resources
a copy of such accounts together with the audit
report of the Comptroller and Auditor General.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee members at the end of
December, 2015 are
Chairperson: Tom O’Higgins – external;
Members: Tom Mason – external;

operational risks, to evaluate the effectiveness of
internal financial controls, to oversee the internal
audit function, and to monitor implementation
of Commission decisions arising from Audit
Committee recommendations. During 2015, the
Audit Committee met on three occasions. The
Committee places significant importance on
reports and assurance on governance matters
such as financial controls, risk management and
internal audit reports/ findings. The Committee’s
work during the year included:
• Review of internal audit reports on Review of
Internal Financial Control, Project Management
of the National Smart Metering Programme
(NSMP); and a Review of IT Strategy;
• Input to the development and approval of CER’s
Internal Audit Plan for the period 2015 to 2017
including oversight of its implementation;
• Liaised regularly with management in relation to
the conduct of risk management and mitigation
work within the CER; and
• Developing knowledge of areas of priority within
the CER by receiving regular briefings from
senior management.
On behalf of the Commission

Paul McGowan and Aoife MacEvilly:
CER Commissioners
The secretary of the Committee is a staff member
of the CER, and the Finance Manager also attends
all meetings of the Committee.
The role of the Audit Committee, as set out in
the Audit Committee Charter, is to assess how
the Commission is managing key financial and
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Garrett Blaney
Chairperson

Commission for Energy Regulation
I have audited the financial statements of the
Commission for Energy Regulation for the year
ended 31 December 2015 under the Electricity
Regulation Act, 1999 as amended by the Gas
(Interim) (Regulation) Act, 2002. The financial
statements, which have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out therein, comprise
the Statement of Accounting Policies, the Income
and Expenditure Account, the Statement of Total
Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet,
the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.
The financial statements have been prepared
in the form prescribed in paragraph 25 of the
Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act 1999
as amended by Section 22 of the Gas (Interim)
(Regulation) Act 2002, and in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practice.

Responsibilities of the Commission
The Commission is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements, for ensuring that they
give a true and fair view and for ensuring the
regularity of transactions.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and
Auditor General
My responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law.
My audit is conducted by reference to the special
considerations which attach to State bodies in
relation to their management and operation.
My audit is carried out in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) and in compliance with the Auditing
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of Audit of the Financial Statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of
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Comptroller and Auditor General Report for
presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Commission for Energy Regulation’s
circumstances, and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed
• the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made in the preparation of the
financial statements, and
• the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
I also seek to obtain evidence about the regularity
of financial transactions in the course of the audit.
In addition, I read the Commission for Energy
Regulation’s annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that
is apparently materially incorrect based on,
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by me in the course of performing the
audit. If I become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the
implications for my report.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
In my opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities
and financial position of the Commission for
Energy Regulation as at 31 December 2015
and of its income and expenditure for 2015;
and
• have been properly prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting practice.
In my opinion, the accounting records of the
Commission were sufficient to permit the financial
statements to be readily and properly audited. The
financial statements are in agreement with the
accounting records.

Matters on which I Report by Exception
I report by exception if I have not received all the
information and explanations I required for my
audit, or if I find
• any material instance where money has not
been applied for the purposes intended or
where the transactions did not conform to the
authorities governing them, or
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• the information given in Commission for Energy
Regulation’s annual report is not consistent with
the financial statements or with the knowledge
acquired by me in the course of performing the
audit, or
• the statement on internal financial control does
not reflect the Commission’s compliance with
the Code of Practice for the Governance of State
Bodies, or
• there are other material matters to the manner
in which public business has been conducted.
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I have nothing to report in regard to those matter
upon which reporting is by exception.

Patricia Sheehan

For and on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General
30 JUNE 2016

Paragraph 25 of the Schedule to the Electricity
Regulation Act, 1999 as amended by Section
20 of the Petroleum (Exploration and Extraction)
Safety Act 2010 requires the Commission to
prepare financial statements in such form as may
be approved by the Minister for Communications,
Energy and Natural Resources with the
concurrence of the Minister for Public Expenditure
and Reform and to submit them for audit to the
Comptroller and Auditor General. In preparing
these financial statements, the Commission is
required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and apply
them consistently
• make judgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent
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Statement of Members’ Responsibilities
• state whether applicable accounting standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements.
The Commission is responsible for keeping proper
books of account, which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Commission and which enable it to ensure that
the financial statements comply with section 20 of
the Petroleum (Exploration and Extraction) Safety
Act 2010. The Commission is also responsible for
safeguarding its assets and for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

On behalf of the Commission

• prepare the financial statements on the
going concern basis, unless that basis is
inappropriate
Garrett Blaney
Chairperson
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Statement on Internal Financial Control
On behalf of the Commission for Energy Regulation
I acknowledge our responsibility for ensuring that
an effective system of internal financial control is
maintained and operated.
The system can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded,
transactions authorised and properly recorded,
and that material errors or irregularities are either
prevented or would be detected in a timely period.
The Commission has taken steps to ensure an
appropriate control environment is in place by:
• Clearly defining management responsibilities
and powers
• Establishing formal procedures for monitoring
the activities and safeguarding the assets of the
organisation
• Developing a culture of accountability across all
levels of the organisation.
The Commission has established processes to
identify and evaluate business risks by:
• Identifying the nature, extent and financial
implication of risks facing the body including
the extent and categories which it regards as
acceptable;
• Assessing the likelihood of identified risks
occurring;
• Working closely with Government and various
Agencies to ensure that there is a clear
understanding of the Commission’s goals and
support for the Commission’s strategies to
achieve those goals.
The system of internal financial control is based on
a framework of regular management information,
administration procedures including segregation
of duties, and a system of delegation and
accountability. In particular it includes:

• A comprehensive budgeting system with an
annual budget which is reviewed and agreed by
the Members of the Commission;
• Regular reviews by the Commission of periodic
and annual financial reports which indicate
financial performance against forecasts;
• Setting targets to measure financial and other
performance;
• Formal project management disciplines.
The Commission has an internal audit function,
which operates in accordance with the Framework
Codes of Best Practice set out in the Code of
Practice on the Governance of State Bodies. The
work of internal audit is informed by analysis of
the risks to which the body is exposed, and annual
internal audit plans are based on this analysis. The
analysis of risk and the internal audit plans are
endorsed by the Audit Committee and approved
by the Commission. At least annually, the Internal
Auditor provides the Commission with a report
of internal audit activity. The report includes
the Internal Auditor’s opinion on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the system of internal
financial control. The Commission’s monitoring
and review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal financial control is informed by the
work of the internal auditor, the audit committee
which oversees the work of the internal auditor,
the executive managers within the Commission
who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the financial control framework,
and comments made by the Comptroller and
Auditor General in his management letter.
A review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal financial controls was carried out in 2015.
On behalf of the Commission

Garrett Blaney
Chairperson
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Statement of Income and Expenditure and
Retained Revenue Reserves
for the year ended 31 December 2015
2015
2015
Gas Petroleum
€'000
€'000

2015
Water
€'000

2015
Total
€'000

2014
Total
€'000

6,718

3,738

2,716

2,637

15,809

19,778

15

5

0

0

20

26

10

7

359

1

377

998

6,743

3,750

3,075

2,638

16,206

20,802

70

62

2

1

135

71

6,813

3,812

3,077

2,639

16,341

20,873

2,941

1,820

678

1,133

6,572

6,014

2015
Notes Electricity
€'000
Income
Levy

2

Licensing Fees
Other Income

2

Gross Income
Transfer from/(to) capital account

9

Net Income

Expenditure
Remuneration and Other Pay

3

590

378

130

246

1,344

948

Office Accommodation Expenses

370

238

67

169

844

853

IT & Communications

164

114

34

80

392

416

Retirement Benefit Costs

10 (a)

Office Service Costs

18

11

3

8

40

48

Insurance Premiums

38

25

7

16

86

84

65

18

7

15

105

87

Professional & Consultancy Fees

4 (a)

4,315

1,459

1,151

202

7,127

6,104

Audit Fees

4 (b)

18

12

3

8

41

49

5

0

0

0

50

50

0

36

22

20

12

90

73

Advertising

Public Water Forum
Other Expenses
Interest Payable
Depreciation

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year
Surplus brought forward
Retirement Benefit Cost Reserve
Operating Surplus / (Deficit) at
31 December

0

0

5

0

5

94

97

71

5

7

180

173

8,652

4,168

2,110

1,946

16,876

14,943

( 1,839)

( 356)

967

693

( 535)

5,930

5,457

2,220

( 132)

634

8,179

2,444

86

56

17

41

200

( 195)

3,704

1,920

852

1,368

7,844

8,179

All income and expenditure for the year relates to continuing activities at the reporting date.
The Statement of Cash Flows and notes 1 to 16 form part of these financial statements.

On behalf of the Commission

Garrett Blaney
Chairperson
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2015
Notes

2015

2014

Total
Euro

Total
Euro

(535)

5,930

10 (biii)

10

1,430

Experience gains / (losses) on retirement benefit scheme liabilities

10 (d)

(98)

1,080

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of
retirement benefit scheme liabilities

10 (bii)

318

( 3,730)

230

( 1,220)

(305)

4,710

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year
Actual return less expected return on retirement benefit scheme assets

Total actuarial gain / (loss) in the year
Other Comprehensive Income for the year

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Commission

Garrett Blaney
Chairperson
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2015
Notes

2015

2014

€'000

€'000

6

1,974

2,109

7

1,671
8,734

1,561
10,865

10,405

12,426

(2,561)

0

(2,347)
(1,900)

7,844

8,179

(4,092)

(4,122)

5,726

6,166

Fixed Assets
Property, plant and equipment

Current Assets
Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities
(Amounts falling due within one year)
Payables
Short Term Loan

8
11

Net Current Assets
Long Term Liabilities
Retirement Benefits
Retirement Benefit Liability

10 (bi)

Total Net Assets
Financed by
9

1,974

Retained Revenue Reserves

12(b)

7,844

2,109
8,179

Pension Reserve

12(a)

(4,092)

(4,122)

5,726

6,166

Capital Account

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 16 form part of these Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Commission

Garrett Blaney
Chairperson
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2015
2015

2014
Re-stated

€’000

€’000

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Excess Income over Expenditure
Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables
Transfer from capital account
Bank Interest

(335)
180
(110)
214
(135)

5,735
173
(693)
219
(71)

(18)

(32)

Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from Operating Activities

(204)

5,331

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments to acquire Property, Plant & Equipment

(45)

(102)

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(45)

(102)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Bank Interest received
Financing – Increase/(reduction) in Debt

(1,900)

(1,900)

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

(1,882)

(1,868)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
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18

32

(2,131)

3,361

10,865

7,504

8,734

10,865

C O M M I S S I O N F O R E N E R G Y R E G U L AT I O N / / A N N U A L R E P O RT 2 0 1 5   N o t e s t o t h e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015
1. Accounting Policies
The basis of accounting and significant accounting policies adopted by the Commission, are set out
below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and for the preceding year.
a)

Establishment of the Commission

The Commission for Electricity Regulation was initially established on 14 July 1999 under the provisions
of the Electricity Regulation Act 1999 (No. 23 of 1999). The enactment of the Gas (Interim) (Regulation)
Act 2002 expanded the Commission’s jurisdiction to include regulation of the natural gas market on 30
April 2002. The Commission was renamed the Commission for Energy Regulation (CER) to reflect this
increased responsibility.
The Minister for Communications, Energy and Natural Resources, with the agreement of the Minister of
Public Expenditure and Reform expanded the Commission to a three member Commission on 13 October
2004, as provided under Schedule 1 of the Electricity Regulation Act 1999. Commissioner Garrett
Blaney was appointed as Chairperson on 19 February 2014. The other Members of the Commission are
Commissioner Paul McGowan and Commissioner Aoife MacEvilly.
b)

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of the Commission for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared
in accordance with FRS 102, the financial reporting standard applicable in the UK and Ireland issued
by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), as promulgated by Chartered Accountants Ireland. These are
the Commission’s first set of financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS 102. The date of
transition to FRS 102 is 1 January 2014. The prior year financial statements were re-stated for material
adjustments on adoption of FRS 102 in the current year. The transition to FRS102 has not affected the
reporting position or financial performance.
c)

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies below. The
financial statements are in the form approved by the Minister for Communications, Energy and Natural
Resources with the concurrence of the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform under paragraph
25 of the schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as amended by section 20 of the Petroleum
(Exploration and Extraction) safety Act 2010. The following accounting policies have been applied
consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the Commission’s financial
statements.
d)

Income Recognition

Electricity, Gas, Petroleum Safety and Water levy income is brought to account over the period to which it
relates.
Licence income from authorisations to construct, generate and supply energy is brought to account in the
year in which the licence is issued.
Petroleum safety case fee income is brought to account in the year during which expenditure is incurred
on assessment of the safety case.
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e)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated in order to write off property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives at the following rates:
Fixtures and Fittings

15% per annum

Office Equipment

15% per annum

Computer Hardware

33 1/3% per annum

Computer Software

50% per annum

Leasehold Improvement

4% per annum

f)

Foreign Currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies relating to revenues and costs are translated into Euro at
the rates of exchange ruling on the dates on which the transactions occurred.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euro at the rates of
exchange at the Statement of Financial Position date.
g)

Retirement Benefits

A defined-benefit pension scheme is in place for all employees of the Commission for Energy Regulation.
The scheme is funded by contributions from the Commission and employees which are transferred to a
separate trustee administered fund.
The retirement benefit charge in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue
Reserves comprises the current service cost plus the difference between the expected return on scheme
assets and the interest cost of scheme liabilities less benefits paid in the year.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and from experience surpluses
and deficits are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year in which they occur.
Retirement benefit scheme assets are measured at fair value. Retirement benefit scheme liabilities are
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit’s method. An excess of scheme liabilities over
scheme assets is presented on the Statement of Financial Position as a liability.
The Retirement Benefit Reserve represents the funding deficit on the defined benefit pension scheme.
h)

Taxation

The Commission is not liable for Corporation Tax. Provision is made for taxation on deposit interest
received. Income raised by the Commission is not subject to VAT.
i)

Capital Account

The capital account represents the unamortised value of income used for capital purposes.
j)

Allocation of costs

In the discharge of the Commission’s functions under section 20 of the Petroleum (Exploration and
Extraction) Safety Act 2010, the financial statements identify separately all elements of cost and revenue
in regard to the electricity, gas and petroleum sectors. In discharge of the Commission’s functions under
the Water Services Act 2013, the financial statements identify separately all elements of costs in regard to
the water sector.
In drawing up the separate accounts of the Commission, a set of accounting procedures for the allocation
of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure is adhered to:
Revenues, expenses and capital expenditure directly incurred by each sector are recorded in the
separate accounts of the electricity, gas, petroleum and water sectors. Shared costs are allocated to each
sector in proportion to the staff numbers engaged in the relevant sector.
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k)

Receivables are recognised at fair value, less a provision for doubtful debts. The provision for doubtful
debts is a specific provision, and is established when there is objective evidence that the Commission
will not be able to collect all amounts owed to it. All movements in the provision for doubtful debts are
recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves.
l)

Operating Leases

Rental expenditure under operating leases is recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and
Retained Revenue Reserves over the life of the lease. Expenditure is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease period, except where there are rental increases linked to the expected rate of inflation, in
which case these increases are recognised when incurred. Any lease incentives received are recognised
over the life of the lease.
m) Employee Benefits
Short-term Benefits: Short term benefits such as holiday pay are recognised as an expense in the
year, and benefits that are accrued at year-end are included in the Payables figure in the Statement of
Financial Position.
n)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and
the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation
means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The following judgements have had the
most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Non-Traded Financial Assets
The value of financial assets that are not traded in active markets is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Commission exercises judgment in selecting a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are mainly based on observable data and conditions existing at each reporting date.
Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the purpose
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
Depreciation and Residual Values
The Members of the Commission have reviewed the asset lives and associated residual values of all fixed
asset classes, and in particular, the useful economic life and residual values of fixtures and fittings, and
have concluded that asset lives and residual values are appropriate.
Provisions
The Commission makes provisions for legal and constructive obligations, which it knows to be outstanding
at the period end date. These provisions are generally made based on historical or other pertinent
information, adjusted for recent trends where relevant. However, they are estimates of the financial costs
of events that may not occur for some years. As a result of this and the level of uncertainty attaching to
the final outcomes, the actual out-turn may differ significantly from that estimated.
o)

Commercial Loan Facility

Interest-bearing commercial loans are initially recognised net of arrangement fees. These arrangement
fees are amortised over the life time of the loan facility. Loans are subsequently stated at amortised cost.
Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method and is included in finance
costs.
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2. Income
Levy Income: For the purpose of meeting its expenses under the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as
amended, the Commission may impose a levy on the relevant energy, petroleum extraction and
exploration undertakings and Irish Water. The Commission imposed a levy on the relevant energy
undertakings for each activity of transmission, distribution, generation, supply or shipping that is carried
out in Ireland as outlined below.
Other Income: The Petroleum Safety Framework is funded in two ways, an annual industry levy and
safety case assessment fees. The safety case fees cover the costs associated with assessment of a safety
case. The petroleum undertaking that submits the safety case for assessment is liable for the associated
safety case fee.

Generation
Transmission
Distribution
Supply
Shipping
Other Levies
Establishment: Safety

Other Income
Bank Interest
Safety Case Fees
Other

2015
Electricity
€'000
1,600
1,737
1,806
1,575
0
0
0
6,718

2015
Gas
€'000
0
1,246
1,246
0
1,246
0
0
3,738

2015
Petroleum
€'000
0
0
0
0
0
1,730
986
2,716

2015
Water
€'000
0
0
0
0
0
2,637
0
2,637

2015
Total
€'000
1,600
2,983
3,052
1,575
1,246
4,368
986
15,809

2014
Total
€'000
2,335
3,606
3,688
2,025
1,545
4,679
1,900
19,778

10
0
0
10

7
0
0
7

0
359
0
359

2
0
0
2

18
359
0
377

32
965
1
998

3. Remuneration and Other Employee Costs
(a) Remuneration and other employee costs during the year:
2015
Electricity
€'000
2,476
236
61
74

2015
Gas
€'000
1,556
148
0
73

2015
Petroleum
€'000
584
52
0
16

2015
Water
€'000
956
105
0
46

2015
Total
€'000
5,572
541
61
209

2014
Total
€'000
5,121
476
59
201

94

43

26

26

189

157

2,941

1,820

678

1,133

6,572

6,014

The average number of employees during the year, analysed by sector was as follows
38
24
7
17
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Staff Salaries
Employer PRSI
SEM Committee Fees
Recruitment and Training
Staff Travel and
Subsistence

The Commission operate a performance related remuneration scheme which was approved by the
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform and the Department of Communications, Energy and
Natural Resources. Of the total salary costs during 2015 €342,656 (2014 €297,720) represents the
payments to staff associated with the provisions of the performance related remuneration scheme. Staff
salaries include the cost of termination payments issued to 2 individuals.
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Range of total employee benefits
From
To
€60,000 - €69,999
€70,000 - €79,999
€80,000 - €89,999
€90,000 - €99,999
€100,000 - €109,999
€110,000 - €119,999
€120,000 - €129,999
€130,000 - €139,999
€140,000 - €149,999
€150,000 - €159,999
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(b) Employee Benefits Breakdown
Number of Employees
2015
2014
12
13
8
4
4
2
5
7
3
1
0
1
2
1
0
0
2
3
1
0

(c) Commissioners Remuneration
The Commissioner’s Remuneration package for 2015 was made up as follows:
Basic Employer Pension
Salary
Contribution
€'000
€'000
168
38
151
35
144
28
463
101

Garrett Blaney (Chairperson)
Paul McGowan (Commissioner)
Aoife MacEvilly (Commissioner)

Vouched
Expenses
€'000
11
3
3
17

Pension Related
Deduction
€'000
(15)
(14)
(13)
(42)

The Commissioner’s pension entitlements do not extend beyond the standard entitlements in the public
sector defined benefit superannuation scheme. The Chairperson and Members of the Commission do not
receive any performance related payments.

(d) Pension Related Deduction as provided under the Financial Emergency Measures in the
Public Interest Act, 2009
During 2015 €340,897 (2014 €343,092) pension related deductions were made from the staff of the
CER and paid over to the Department of Communications, Energy and Natural Resources (€278,696)
and the Department of Environment Community and Local Government (€62,201).

4. Professional Fees
(a) Professional and Consultancy Fees
The Commission procures professional and legal services in respect of economic, technical, and legal
disciplines including litigation fees, usually on a fixed fee basis, for a defined period of time to perform
specific self-contained tasks or projects. During 2015, the Commission procured services for each activity
of electricity, gas, safety regulation (includes petroleum safety) and water and waste water regulation per
key category as follows;
Professional Fees Category
Technical: Consultancy Services
Technical: Safety Consultancy Services
Economic/Financial: Consultancy
Services
National Smart Metering Programme:
Consultancy Services
Professional Fees plus Market
Research
Legal including Judicial Review
Litigation Fees

Electricity
€'000
590
47
1,175

Gas Petroleum
€'000
€'000
237
0
231
1,074
0
0

Water Total-2015 Total-2014
€'000
€'000
€'000
154
981
1,161
0
1,352
1,309
16
1,191
1,017

1,887

490

0

0

2,377

1,592

149

61

10

25

245

247

467

440

67

7

981

778

4,315

1,459

1,151

202

7,127

6,104
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(b) Audit Fees
2015
€’000

2014
€’000

Audit Fees to the Office of the Comptroller and Auditor General

13

13

Internal Audit Fees

28

36

41

49

5. Public Water Forum
The Water Services Act 2014 provides that the Commission establish a customer consultative forum, to
be known as the Public Water Forum. The primary purpose of the Forum is to represent the interests of
domestic water consumers and a variety of sectoral organisations. As set out under Section 7(3) of the
Water Services Act 2014, the Minister has appointed Dr. Tom Collins as the Chair of the Forum in July
2015. The CER acts as Secretary to the Forum and is responsible for the Administrative Arrangements for
the Forum, as approved by the Minister. The CER was charged with recruiting the members of the Forum
and held a recruitment process for both domestic and organisational members in 2015. Twelve members
are drawn from organisations each representing a specific sector of interest and up to twenty members
are domestic water consumers. The Minister has determined that the CER should cover the costs of the
activities of the Public Water Forum.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold
Improvement
€'000

Fixtures
Office
& Fittings Equipment
€'000
€'000

Computer
Hardware
€'000

Computer
Software
€'000

Total
€'000
4,765

Cost:
At 31 December 2014

2,961

648

226

595

335

0

0

0

15

30

45

2,961

648

226

610

365

4,810

At 31 December 2014

977

640

220

492

327

2,656

Charge for the year

118

2

2

47

11

180

1,095

642

222

539

338

2,836

At 31 December 2015

1,866

6

4

71

27

1,974

At 31 December 2014

1,984

8

6

103

8

2,109

2015
€’000
1,246
149
0
76
11
189
1,671

2014
€’000
6
976
396
0
15
168
1,561

Additions
At 31 December 2015
Accumulated Depreciation:

At 31 December 2015
Net Book Value:

7. Receivables

Levy – Gas
Levy – Electricity
Levy/Fees – Petroleum Safety
Payroll
Other
Prepayments

82

Trade Creditors
Accrual: Consultancy and Professional Fees
Accrual: Legal services
Accrual: Other Creditors
PAYE / PRSI
Payroll including Accrued Holiday Pay
Professional Services Withholding Tax
Deferred Income: Petroleum Safety Case Fees

2015
€’000
7
1,881
15
43
336
153
126
0
2,561

2014
€’000
24
1,310
89
186
312
24
133
269
2,347
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8. Payables

9. Capital Account

Opening balance
Funds allocated to acquire fixed assets
Amount amortised in line with asset depreciation
Net amount of transfer

2015
Electricity
€'000
1,699

2015
Gas
€'000
381

2015
Petroleum
€'000
10

2015
Water
€'000
19

2015
Total
€'000
2,109

28
(98)

9
(71)

2
(4)

6
(7)

45
(180)

(70)
1,629

(62)
319

(2)
8

(1)
18

(135)
1,974

10. Retirement Benefit Costs

a)

2014
€’000

1,540
474
(399)
(271)
1,344

1,234
689
(738)
(237)
948

22,934
(18,842)
4,092
21,645

21,645
(17,523)
4,122

Analysis of total retirement benefit costs charged to the
Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained
Revenue Reserves
Current service cost
Interest Cost
Expected return on Scheme Assets
Less: Employees Contributions
Total

bi)

2015
€’000

Net Retirement Benefit Liability
Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of scheme assets
Net Liability

bii) Present Value of Scheme Obligations at beginning of year
Current Service Cost
Interest Cost
Actuarial Loss / (Gain)
Benefits Paid
Present Value of Scheme Obligations at end of year

1,540
474
(220)
(505)
22,934

17,191
1,234
689
2,650
(119)
21,645
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biii) Change in Scheme assets
Fair Value of Scheme Assets at beginning of year
Expected return on Scheme Assets
Actuarial Gain / (Loss)
Employer Contributions
Members’ Contributions
Transfers in for prior service
Benefits paid from Scheme
Fair Value of Scheme Assets at end of year

17,523
399
10
1,144
271
0
(505)
18,842

14,094
738
1,430
1,143
237
0
(119)
17,523

The current practice of increasing pensions in line with public sector salary inflation is taken into account
in measuring the defined benefit obligation.

c) Description of Scheme and Actuarial Assumptions
The retirement benefit scheme is a defined benefit final salary pension arrangement with benefits defined
by reference to current “model” public sector scheme regulations. Employer and employee contribution
rates are set having regard to actuarial advice and periodic review on the funding rate required for
the scheme. The scheme provides a pension (eightieths per year of service), a gratuity or lump sum
(three eightieths per year of service) and spouse’s and children’s pensions. Normal Retirement Age is a
member’s 65th birthday, and pre 2004 members have an entitlement to retire without actuarial reduction
from age 60. Pensions in payment (and deferment) normally increase in line with general public sector
salary inflation.
The valuation used for FRS102 disclosures has been based on a full actuarial valuation performed on
31st January 2015 by a qualified independent actuary, taking account of the requirements of the FRS in
order to assess the scheme liabilities at 31st December 2015.

The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:
Discount Rate
Future Salary Increases
Future State Pension Increases
Future Inflation

2.75%
3.00%
1.75%
1.75%

2.20%
2.50%
1.25%
1.25%

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on published mortality tables (PMA92/
PFA92) prepared for the Actuarial Profession in the U.K. by the Continuous Mortality Investigation Bureau
tables. The mortality assumptions chosen are based on standard tables reflecting typical pensioner
mortality and they allow for increasing life expectancy over time.
The weighted average life expectancy, for post-retirement mortality tables used to determine benefit
obligations at:
Year of attaining age 65
Life expectancy - male
Life expectancy- female

The scheme assets at the year-end comprised:
Equities
Alternatives
Fixed Interest
Property
Other

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets
Actual Return
Less: Expected return
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2015
22.8
24.1

2035
25.2
26.2

2015
44.5%
17.2%
34.3%
1.3%
2.7%
100.0%

2014
44.7%
15.8%
36.3%
1.3%
1.9%
100.0%

2015
(€’000)
409
(399)
10

2014
(€’000)
2,168
(738)
1,430

2015
€’000

2014
€’000

2013
€’000

2012
€’000

C O M M I S S I O N F O R E N E R G Y R E G U L AT I O N / / A N N U A L R E P O RT 2 0 1 5   N o t e s t o t h e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s

In developing the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Commission
considered the current level of expected returns on risk free investments (primarily government
bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in
which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The
expected return for each asset class is then weighted based on the actual asset allocation
to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.
2011
€’000

d) History of defined benefit obligations, assets and experience gains and losses
Defined benefit obligations
Fair value of Scheme Assets
Surplus/ (Deficit) for funded scheme
Actuarial gain/(loss) on liabilities
Experience adjustment on assets

22,934
18,842
(4,092)
220
10

21,645
17,523
(4,122)
(2,650)
1,430

17,191
14,094
(3,097)
2,982
1,353

18,307
10,974
(7,333)
(4,902)
740

12,071
8,601
(3,470)
(960)
(1,067)

e) Funding of Retirement Benefits
The Commission expects to contribute €1,204,000 to its retirement benefit scheme in 2016.

f) Prior pensionable service
The assets and liabilities of the retirement benefit schemes relate to retirement benefits arising from
service with the Commission. Two Commission members and six staff members have superannuation
entitlements arising from service with other public sector bodies prior to their joining the Commission. The
Commission is entitled to recover the cost of funding the prior service from other public bodies under the
terms of its membership of the Public Service Transfer Network.

11. Short Term Loan
In accordance with paragraph 24 of the First Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999, as
amended, the CER have entered into a commercial loan agreement with National Treasury Management
Agency for an amount not to exceed €5,000,000. The consent of the Minister for Communications,
Energy and Natural Resources and the Minister for Finance was received on the 29th June 2011.
This loan was required to meet the Commission’s financial requirements for the establishment and
implementation of the Petroleum Safety Framework. The loan balance was re-paid in full in January
2015.

12 (a) Reconciliation of movements in Reserves
Income and Expenditure and
Retained Revenue Reserves Account

Opening Balance at 1 January

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Financial Year

Electricity

Gas

Petroleum

Water

Capital
Account

€’000
5,457

€’000
2,220

€’000
(132)

€’000
634

€’000
2,109

(1,839)

(356)

967

693

Net Movement in Capital

Closing Balance at 31 December

€’000
(4,122)

86

56

17

41

3,704

1,920

852

1,368

Total
€’000
6,166

(535)
(135)

Actuarial Gain/ (Loss)
Movement in Reserve

Retirement
Benefit
Reserve

1,974

(135)
230

230

(200)

0

( 4,092)

5,726

The retirement benefit reserve represents the cumulative cost of retirement benefits less amounts
contributed by the employer. The transfer in the year represents the difference between the full cost of
retirement benefits recognised in the Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves Account
in the year of €1,344,000 and the employer contributions of €1,144,000.
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12 (b) Accumulated Surplus / Deficit for the year
In accordance with Paragraph 20 of the Schedule to the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999 as amended the
Commission is required to apply any excess of revenue over expenditure in any year to meet its expenses.
Accordingly the accumulated surplus attributed to the electricity sector of €3.7M; the gas sector of €1.9M
and the water and waste water sector of €1.4M was taken into account in determining the levy orders
for 2016. The petroleum levy surplus of €0.8M for 2015 was taken into account in determining the levy
order for 2016. The petroleum safety establishment costs are fully recovered in 2015.

13. Interests of Members of the Commission
The Commission adopted procedures in accordance with the Code of Practice for the Governance of
State Bodies issued by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform in relation to the disclosure
of interests by the Members of the Commission and these procedures have been adhered to in the year.
There were no transactions in the year in relation to the Commission’s activities in which the Members of
the Commission had any beneficial interest.

14. Commitments – Capital and Others
14.1 Capital Commitments:
The Commission had neither contracted for nor authorised any capital expenditure at the balance
sheet date.

14.2 Operating Leases
The Commission has annual commitments of €411,933 payable on foot of a twenty five-year lease
for office accommodation at The Exchange, Belgard Square North, Tallaght, Dublin 24, leased from
GH Investments Limited, which are the only offices occupied by CER. The lease expires on 28th
February 2023.

15. Transition to FRS102
The Commission had previously not accrued for holiday pay earned by employees but not availed of
at the reporting date. Under FRS102, the financial statements must recognise such accruals. As the
adjustment was not material at the transition date, no re-statement of the 2014 financial statements was
required.

16. Approval of Financial Statements
The Commission approved these financial statements on 29 June 2016.
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